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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Corporate Information
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Chairman’s Statement

ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Prime Intelligence
Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the "Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

LISTING

On 14 February 2018, the Company was successfully listed (the “Listing”)
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Listing has laid a foundation for the Group’s continuous
development.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a provider of biometrics identification solutions in Hong
Kong (“Hong Kong”) Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”), Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (“Macau”) and the PRC. The Group markets itself
using the brand “Solution Expert’. The Group markets its products
through the sales of products which include biometrics identification
devices and other devices and accessories, and provision of auxiliary and
other services. The Group’s biometrics identification devices have one or
more of the following functions: face identification; fingerprint identification;
finger vein identification; hand geometry identification; and iris
identification.

The Group would like to share more details of its performance, financial
position and other information for the year ended 31 March 2024 with
shareholders (“Shareholders”) in the following section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis”.

PROSPECTS

Apart from its commitment to the development of its principal business,
the Group will actively make progress to generate growth and strive for
potential and new business opportunities. The Group plans to further its
growth in existing business by strengthening its marketing capabilities and
expanding its product portfolio through enhancing software development,
with a view to further enlarging its market share in Hong Kong and Macau
and becoming one of the active biometrics identification solutions
providers in the PRC. As such, the Group has utilised the net proceeds
from the Listing on (i) enhancing the quality of after-sales and
strengthening the operation support as part of the expansion plan of the
business in the Southern China; (i) improving its information technology
system; (iii) setting up a new and separate software development centre
in the PRC to further enhance and develop the Group’s software; and (iv)
research and development on touchless biometrics identification devices
and Artificial Intelligence & Internet of Things (“AloT”).
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The Group plans to diversify its business to maintain a healthy portfolio.
Leveraging on the experience of the Directors, the Group considers
setting up new business lines including artificial intelligence technology
solutions, catering management and trade services.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group remains committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. All board committees have effectively supported the Board
in carrying out its responsibilities. By conducting its business under good
corporate governance, the Group’s and Shareholder’s long term interests
will be maximised.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my warmest thanks to the
management and the staff of the Group for their significant contributions.
I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to all Shareholders and
investors for their endless support. With the solid business base and the
effort of all staff, the Group will endeavour to open a new chapter in the
future.

Wang Yicheng
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WK

OVERVIEW

The Group is a provider of biometrics identification solutions in Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC. The Group derives revenue from the following
business activities: (i) sales of biometrics identification devices, security
products, and other accessories; and (i) provision of auxiliary and other
services. The Group’s biometrics identification devices have one or more
of the following functions: (i) face identification; (i) fingerprint identification;
(iiiy finger vein identification; (iv) hand geometry identification; and (v) iris
identification. The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately HK$54.4 million, representing an increase by
approximately 25.9% from approximately HK$43.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to
(i) increase in sales of biometrics identification devices, security products
and other accessories by approximately HK$9.5 million (or 34.4%) as
compared with the corresponding period in 2023; and (ii) increase in
revenue derived from provision of auxiliary and other services by
approximately HK$1.7 million (or 11.0%) as compared with the
corresponding period in 2023.

Revenue represents the invoiced values of goods sold and services
rendered, after allowances for returns and discounts during the reporting
periods.
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Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales and services rendered was
costs of inventories sold. The Group’s costs of inventories sold increased
by approximately 42.0% to approximately HK$20.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$14.3 million). The gross
profit margin raised from approximately 30.2% for the year ended 31
March 2023 to approximately 46.3% for the year ended 31 March 2024.
The gross profit also raised from approximately HK$13.0 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$25.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to (i)
the decrease in direct cost incurred by the operation of the software
development centre in the PRC; and (i) the increase in sales of biometrics
identification devices, security products and other accessories.

Expenses

Staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately
HK$34.2 million (2023: approximately HK$30.8 million), representing an
increase by approximately HK$3.4 million as compared with that of last
corresponding period, which was mainly due to the salary increment
during the period.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2024 were
approximately HK$33.4 million (2023: approximately HK$28.7 million),
representing an increase of approximately HK$4.7 million as compared
with the last corresponding period, which was mainly due to the increase
in staff costs.

Taxes

The income tax expense comprised Hong Kong Profits Tax, Macau
Complementary Tax and PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year. The
income tax expense for the year ended 31 March 2024 was nil (2023:
approximately HK$132,000).

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax Regime, one of the Company’s Hong
Kong subsidiaries is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of
8.25% for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: 8.25%) for the first
HK$2 million of its estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: 16.5%) on its estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million. Other Hong Kong subsidiaries not qualifying for the
two-tiered Profit Tax Regime are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the
rate of 16.5% for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: 16.5%).
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The Group’s subsidiary established and operated in the PRC is subject to
PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% for the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: 25%). No PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been
provided for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil) as the Group’s
PRC subsidiary did not generate any assessable profits during the
reporting periods.

The Group’s subsidiary established and operated in the Macau Special
Administrative Region (“Macau”) of the PRC is subject to Macau
Complementary Tax, under which taxable income of up to Macau Pataca
(“MOP”) 600,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: MOP600,000)
is exempted from taxation with taxable income beyond this amount to be
taxed at the rate of 12% for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: 12%)).

Loss for the Year

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$15.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024, as compared with a net loss of approximately
HK$24.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The decrease in net
loss was mainly due to the increase in revenue and gross profit.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows, bank borrowings and proceeds
from Listing. The Directors believe that with the new capital from Listing,
the Group is in a healthy financial position to expand its core business
and to achieve its business objectives. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
had no bank borrowings (31 March 2023: Nil). The Group requires cash
primarily for working capital needs. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had
approximately HK$3.8 million in bank and cash balances (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$17.9 million).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2024 and 20283, the Group has no outstanding
borrowings, accordingly there is no gearing ratio.

Note: Gearing ratio is calculated as the total debt divided by total equity.
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OPERATION REVIEW

Outlook

The ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) of the Company
have been successfully listed on GEM on 14 February 2018. The Board
considers that such public listing status will allow the Company to gain
access to the capital market for corporate finance exercise, assist the
Company in the future business development, enhance the Group’s
corporate profile and recognition and strengthen its competitiveness.

Considering the decrease in market demand and the uncertainties
brought by the development of the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19)
and the post-COVID-19 era in the PRC, the Group has decided to
suspend the plan to launch affordable locally manufactured fingerprint
identification devices as part of the expansion plan of the business in the
Southern China, and has reallocated part of the utilised net proceeds
from the Listing to other business plans, namely (i) enhancement of the
quality of after-sales services and strengthening of the operation support;
(i) improving the information technology system; (iii) research and
development on touchless biometrics identification devices and AloT; and
(iv) working capital.

The Group has observed that there has been a change of market trend
from touch biometrics identification devices to touchless biometrics
identification devices due to increased public health awareness since the
COVID-19 pandemic. As such, the Group has applied part of the net
proceeds from the Listing for research and development on touchless
biometrics identification devices and AloT. The Group plans to diversify
the functions of its touchless biometrics identification devices and their
applications by utilizing AloT in order to capture the market of touchless
biometrics identification devices with healthcare-related functions.
Looking forward, the Board takes the view that AloT and its functions can
be applied in many different scenarios that the Group’s biometrics
identification devices can be involved. The Group plans to capture and
develop new markets in light of the growing popularity and application of
AloT in daily life.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 77 employees. The
Group’s staff cost for the year ended 31 March 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$34.2 million (2023: approximately HK$30.8 million).
The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing market
practise and are determined on the basis of performance, qualification
and experience of individual employee. The Group recognises the
importance of a good relationship with its employees. The remuneration
payable to its employees includes salaries and allowances. Other benefits
and incentives include training and share option.
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In Hong Kong, the Group’s employees have participated in the mandatory
provident fund prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). In the PRC, the
Group’s employees have participated in the basic pension insurance,
basic medical insurance, unemployment insurance, occupational injury
insurance, maternity insurance prescribed by the Social Insurance Law of
the PRC ((FZE AR KRB L& REE)), and housing fund prescribed
by the Regulations on the Administration of Housing Fund (({ZE A AfE®
EIEEM))). All PRC based employees have the right to participate in the
social insurance and housing provident fund schemes.

Capital Expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$2.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$1.6 million).

Capital Commitments
The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31
March 2024 (2023: Nil).

Foreign Currency Risk
The Company does not have significant exposure on foreign currency
risk.

The functional currency of the Group’s entities are principally denominated
in HK$, Renminbi (‘RMB”), MOP and Great British Pound. The Group has
certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its business
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of respective Group entities such as United
Stated dollars (“US$”), RMB and EURO. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities.

The Group did not engage in any derivatives agreement and did not
commit to any financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Significant Investments held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals
of Subsidiaries, and Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

On 29 December 2023, the Group disposed of its entire interests in its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Prime Intelligence Marketing Agency Limited
(formerly known as Prime Intelligence Solution UK Limited) (“‘Prime UK”),
a company incorporated in the United Kingdom, to an independent third
party at a consideration of HK$100,000. Save as disclosed above, during
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any other
significant investment, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
any plan for material investments or capital assets.

Charges over Assets of the Group
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were no charges over assets of the
Group.
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Dividend
The Directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

Share Option Schemes

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed by the then shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) on 18 January 2018 for the primary
purpose to attract, retain and motivate talented participants, to strive for
future developments and expansion of the Group. Eligible participants of
the Share Option Scheme include any employees, executive Directors,
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors),
advisers, consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Share Option Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme is
adopted, after which no further share options will be granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall in all other respects remain
in full force and effect and share options which are granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue. The principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme were summarized in the paragraph headed “Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV to the prospectus (the “Prospectus”) published
by the Company in relation to the Listing. No share option has been
granted, exercised, expired, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption and up to the date of this report.

Use of proceeds and actual progress of the Group’s business
objectives

The net proceeds from the Listing (after deducting the underwriting fees
and other related expenses paid by the Company in connection with the
share offer) which amounted to approximately HK$44.5 million will be
used for the intended purposes as set out in the section headed
“Statement of Business Objectives and Strategies” of the
Prospectus. Among the Net Proceeds, a sum of approximately HK$15.8
million was originally planned for launching affordable locally manufactured
fingerprint identification devices as part of the expansion plan of the
business in the Southern China. However, the Group has decided to
suspend the plan to launch affordable locally manufactured fingerprint
identification devices as part of the expansion plan of the business in the
Southern China, and has reallocated the relevant net proceeds to other
business plans, namely (i) enhancement of the quality of after-sales
services and strengthening of the operation support; (i) improving the
information technology system; (iii) research and development on
touchless biometrics identification devices and AloT; and (iv) working
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capital. For details of the change in use of proceeds, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 2 December 2022 (the
“Announcement”). Set out below is the actual usage of net proceeds up
to the date of this report:

HEIA2022F 12 A2EMAM([ZAM]) - LLTATH
BHEAREASHAILISREFENERAR

Original Utilised Unutilised Revised Unutilised
allocationof ~ NetProceeds  Net Proceeds allocationof ~ Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds as at the asatthe  the unutilised as at
as stated in date of the date of the according to the the date of
the Prospectus  Announcement Announcement Announcement this report
REZAHH
ARERFE  REAGASG RELMGESN  HRBARE  RAEERE
FERERE EEHAME HRB RS HEFEN Wi RE A
WREDE RERE REFH BETIE  FEHEFE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEATL BB BEET BEATL
Expanding the business in Southern China TREHHEER
— launch of affordable locally manufactured — A B T B R 15.8 - 15.8 - -
fingerprint identification devices HARE
— enhancement of the quality of after-sales sevices — REEBRENEZR 5.1 (5.1) - 3.0 -
and strengthening of the operation support MEEETE
Improving the information technology system KR EAMNEZA 50 (6.0 - 30 -
Setting up a new and separate software RAER T - EHNE LM 16.2 (15.2) - - -
development center in the PRC to further BRAONE-SRAR
enhance and develop the Group’s software RRLEENEL
Research and development on touchless MEEEBENER - - - 6.8 -
biometrics identification devices and BAREURAIEBHR
Artificial Intelligence & Internet of Things WA
Working capital BEES 34 (3.4) - 30 -
45 (28.7) 158 158 -

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group’s business objectives are to
further its growth in existing business by strengthening marketing
capabilities and expanding product portfolio through enhancing software
development, in order to further enlarge its market share in Hong Kong
and Macau and to become one of the active biometrics identification
solutions providers in the PRC. The Directors intend to achieve the
objectives by (i) enhancing the quality of aftersales services and
strengthening the operation support as part of the expansion plan of the
business in the Southern China; (i) improving the information technology
system; (iii) setting up a new and separate software development centre
in the PRC to further enhance and develop the Group’s software; and (iv)
research and development on touchless biometrics identification devices
and AloT.
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The Group had planned to use approximately HK$15.8 million of net
proceeds to launch affordable locally manufactured fingerprint
identification devices as part of the expansion plan of the business in the
Southern China to other business plans of the Company. As disclosed in
this report and the Announcement, due to the reasons disclosed in the
Announcement, the Group has decided to suspend the plan to launch
affordable locally manufactured fingerprint identification devices as part of
the expansion plan of the business in the Southern China, and has
reallocated the relevant utilised net proceeds to other business plans.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$8.1 million of net
proceeds to enhance the quality of after-sales services and to strengthen
the operation support as part of the expansion plan of the business in the
Southern China. As at 31 March 2024, a total of approximately HK$8.1
million was spent on enhancing the quality of after-sales services and
strengthening the operation support as part of the expansion plan of the
business in the Southern China.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$8.0 million of net
proceeds to improve the information technology system. As at 31 March
2024, a total of approximately HK$8.0 million was spent on improving the
information technology system.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$15.2 million of net
proceeds to set up a new and separate software development centre in
the PRC to further enhance and develop the Group’s software. As at 31
March 2024, a total of approximately HK$15.2 million was spent on
setting up a new and separate software development centre in the PRC
to further enhance and develop the Group’s software.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$6.8 million of net
proceeds to research and development on touchless biometrics
identification devices and AloT. As at 31 March 2024, a total of
approximately HK$6.8 million was spent on research and development
on touchless biometrics identification devices and AloT.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$6.4 million of net

proceeds to working capital. As at 31 March 2024, a total of
approximately HK$6.4 million was spent on working capital.
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EERSREEEBEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline (“Ms. Pauline Yuen”), aged 56, is an
executive Director. She was redesignated as an executive Director on 6
November 2015 and is mainly responsible for overseeing corporate
policies and human resources of the Group. She is a director of Power
Truth, SE Technology, SE Engineering, SE R&D, SE Shenzhen and SE
Macau.

Ms. Pauline Yuen has over 31 years of experience in accounting, during
which she has also obtained over 17 years of experience in finance and
management. She obtained a bachelor of science degree in business
administration and accounting from the California State University in the
United States in August 1992. She worked in Wing On Department Stores
(Hong Kong) Limited from November 1992 to April 1994, with her last
position being assistant accountant. She then worked in China Online
(Bermuda) Limited, from April 1994 to September 1999, with her last
position being senior accountant. She was the accounting manager of
Tricom CyberWorld Holdings Limited from September 1999 to December
2000. From September 2001 to January 2006, she worked in Hing Wah
Lung QOil & Rice Limited with her last positing being the accounting and
administration manager. She was employed by Pacific Century Matrix (HK)
Limited from February 2006 to May 2007 with her last position being
manager, finance and administration and was mainly responsible for
management of treasury function and finance and accounting operations.

Ms. Pauline Yuen is the sister of Mr. Tony Yuen (a non-executive Director)
and Ms. Jazzy Wong (a member of the senior management).
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Mr. Lin Shixing (“Mr. Lin”), aged 49, is an executive Director. He was
appointed on 22 December 2023.

He has around 20 years of experience in the wine industry. Since 2016,
he has been the general manager of Guangzhou City Jiachi Wine
Company Limited (& M ™1 & b 8 2 i% 5 & BR 2 7)) and Shandong
Hannuo Jiachi Wine Company Limited (1L E2/& 55 B 2D AR A 7).
Prior to that, Mr. Lin has approximately 12 years of working experience in
several wine companies, including Jinan Nver Hong Liquor Sales Limited
(5 R & 41 8B 38 S AR A 7)), Changsha Sanliangsan Good Wine
Limited (& = @ = 4 )B % A& R 2 7l) and Shaanxi Xifengjiu Group
Company Limited (P& 78 75 Bl )& £ B 3% {7 & R 2 &). Mr. Lin has been
appointed as the committee member of Zaozhuang City Political and
Consultative Conference. He has also been appointed as the executive
chairman of Zaozhuang City Fujian Chamber of Commerce and the vice
chairman of Hunan Province Wine Industry Association.

Mr. Lin completed the Advanced Management Program at Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University in 2022.

Mr. Wang Yicheng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 30, is an executive Director, the
chairman of the board of Directors, the chief executive officer and a
member of each of the remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company. He was appointed on 26 January 2024 and
re-designated on 13 May 2024. He obtained legal advice on 26 January
2024 according to the requirements of Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing
Rules and has confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of a
listed issuer.

He has over 10 years of experience in the industries of project investment
and corporate governance and has been an investor focusing on
securities investment. He has participated in the initial public offerings of
shares, acquisitions, mergers, and financing projects of several Hong
Kong listed companies. He has extensive professional knowledge in
different aspects, particularly in corporate governance, venture capital,
corporate restructuring, listing, and financing businesses. Mr. Wang is
currently the chief executive officer of a financial holding company, which
provides financial services in Asia-Pacific.

Ms. Zhang Yushan (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 31, is an executive Director.
She was appointed on 12 April 2024. She obtained legal advice on 28
March 2024 according to the requirements of Rule 5.02D of the GEM
Listing Rules, and has confirmed she understood her obligations as a
director of a listed issuer.

She has over 7 years of experience in the marketing industry. From
August 2017 to June 2019, she was the assistant marketing director at
Qigin Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd* (& &= &% (At )R AR A7), a
company in digital marketing industry and has been the assistant general
manager at Shenyang Baochen Trading Co., Ltd* (B EREZ AR A
Al) since September 2019.

Ms. Zhang obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Performing Arts from The
Central Academy of Drama* (7P R E{ &I 2287 ) in Beijing in 2014.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (“Mr. Tony Yuen”), aged 54, is one of the
founders of the Group and a non-executive Director of the Company. He
joined the Group as a director on 28 June 1999 and was re-designated
as a non-executive Director on 13 May 2024. Mr. Tony Yuen is a director
of Power Truth Holdings Limited (“Power Truth”), Solution Expert
Technology Limited (“SE Technology”), Solution Expert Engineering
Limited (“SE Engineering”), Solution Expert Technology (R&D) Limited
(“SE R&D”), and Solution Expert Technology (Macau) Limited (“SE
Macau”).
representative of Solution Expert Technology (Shenzhen) Limited* (“SE
Shenzhen”).

He is also the chairman, general manager and legal

Mr. Tony Yuen has over 27 years of experience in software programming.
He obtained a bachelor of engineering degree from the University of Hong
Kong in January 1995. Before he joined the Group, he was the head of
information systems department of PENTAX group in Hong Kong from
1996 to 1998, and was responsible for developing networking and
computer solution systems in different computerisation projects. Mr. Tony
Yuen has not held any directorship in any other public companies, the
securities of which are or have been listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. Tony Yuen is a brother of Ms. Pauline Yuen (one of the executive
Directors) and the spouse of Ms. Jazzy Wong (a member of the senior
management).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Billy (“Mr. Chung”), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He is
responsible for overseeing the management independently and providing
independent judgement on the issues of strategy, performance, resources
and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor of arts degree in chartered accountancy
studies from The University of Waterloo, Canada in June 1999. He further
obtained a master of business administration degree from the University
of Toronto, Canada in June 2004. Mr. Chung also obtained a diploma in
investigative and forensic accounting from the University of Toronto
Mississauga in 2013 and completed a business analytics certificate
programme, which is an online distance learning course, from the
Northwestern University, the United States, in August 2016.

Mr. Chung has over 18 years of management experience. Mr. Chung
worked as an assistant manager in H.C. Watt & Company Limited in
Hong Kong from August 2005 to July 2006 and was mainly responsible
for assisting in the initial public offering auditing. In June 2007, Mr. Chung
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Culturecom
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 0343), and was subsequently re-designated as an
executive director in November 2007. He resigned from Culturecom
Holdings Limited in September 2016. From August 2013 to January
2017, Mr. Chung was the senior advisor of WTM Company Limited, a
software development company in Hong Kong, and was responsible for
advising on business strategies and development. Since November 2016,
Mr. Chung has been the general manager of GoAnimate Hong Kong
Limited and is responsible for its business development activities in the
Asia-Pacific region.

Mr. Chung was admitted as an accredited chartered accountant under
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada in November
2001 and re-designated as a chartered professional accountant in
November 2012. He was also admitted as a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in June 2010. Mr. Chung
was further granted as the certified fraud examiner by the Association of
Certified Fraud Examiners, the United States, in May 2016. He was also
certified by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
United States, to be certified in financial forensics (CFF) in August 2016.
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Mr. Wong Ching Wan (“Mr. Wong”), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 June 2022. He has profound
experience in audit, internal control, financial control and capital markets.
He has acted as director in different listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Wong has been an independent non-executive director of Top Standard
Corporation, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 8510) since
January 2020. He has been the chief financial officer of Intelligent Living
Application Group Inc. (stock code: ILAG) since June 2020. He was a
director of Network CN, Inc. (stock code: NWCN), which shares are duly
traded in the USA, from August 2015 to July 2017, and has been its
independent director since January 2022.

Previously, Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of
Grand Field Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 115) between December 2008 to
January 2009. From May 2015 to June 2018, he was an independent
non-executive director of Huge China Holdings Limited (currently known
as Cocoon Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 428). He served as the company secretary
and authorized representative of China Oil Gangran Energy Group
Holdings Limited (currently known as Century Energy International
Holdings Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8132) from December 2015 to October 2016 and from
December 2015 to January 2017, respectively. From March 2016 to April
2022, he was an independent non-executive director of On Real
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Shanyu Group
Holdings Company Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8245).

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Business and Administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 1989 and a Bachelor of Business
from The University of Southern Queensland in April 1992. Mr. Wong is a
member of CPA Australia since October 1992, Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada since January 1999, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since March 1999 and fellow member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since October 2012.

Mr. Ke Tianxiong (“Mr. Ke”), aged 37, is an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the remuneration committee, audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He was
appointed on 22 January 2024. He obtained legal advice on 17 January
2024 according to the requirements of Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing
Rules, and has confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of a
listed issuer.

He has 10 years of experience in the corporate finance industry. From
January 2014 to December 2022, he was the general manager of
Shenzhen Qianhai Chuangfu Eastern Investment Management Limited
Company* (FYITATERIZE R T IREEEF R A F]) and has been the
general manager of Huagi Holding (Shenzhen) Limited Company* (2842
& CRYI) BIRAF).
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Mr. Ke obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in international trade from Wuhan
Commercial Service College* (EZ 18 2 AR 7E 263 ) in 2010.

Mr. Yang Chuan (“Mr. Yang”), aged 35, is an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the remuneration committee,
audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. He was
appointed on 12 April 2024. He obtained legal advice on 28 March 2024
according to the requirements of Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules,
and has confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of a listed
issuer.

He has 10 years of experience in business management. In 2014, Mr.
Yang founded Sichuan Longwentang Enterprise Management Co., Ltd*
(M) BEEX EEEE AR A A]) and acted as its chief executive officer.
In 2015, Mr. Yang founded Kanke Technology Chengdu Co., Ltd* (818
Rk #EBA R A7) and acted as its chief executive officer.

Mr. Yang obtained a Diploma in Building Electrical Engineering
Technology from the department of electrical engineering at Chengdu
Institute of Technology* (A #B T2 28%) in 2013,

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Ka Man, Jazzy (“Ms. Jazzy Wong”), aged 46, is the senior
manager of SE Engineering and is responsible for assisting the Group’s
sales and marketing. She is also a director of SE Shenzhen. Ms. Jazzy
Wong obtained a bachelor of arts degree in computing from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in November 2004. Prior to joining the Group,
she worked at South China Media Limited as web developer in the online
department from July 2000 to September 2000. She joined SE
Engineering in October 2000.

Ms. Jazzy Wong is the spouse of Mr. Tony Yuen (a non-executive
Director), and a sister-in-law of Ms. Pauline Yuen (one of the executive
Directors).

Mr. Chou Chiu Ho (“Mr. Chou”), aged 44, is the company secretary
and financial controller of the Group, and is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting, financial planning, financial control and
company secretarial matters. He first joined as the company secretary of
SE Technology in September 2015 and was subsequently promoted as
the company secretary and financial controller in November 2016. He
was appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) in November 2015.
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Mr. Chou has over 20 years of experience in accounting and auditing.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chou worked in an accounting firm from
September 2003 to January 2006, with his last position being semi-senior
auditor. He then joined PricewaterhouseCoopers from January 2006 to
December 2010. From January 2011 to March 2012, Mr. Chou worked
as the head of corporate services of Beijing Sports and Entertainment
Industry Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1803) (formerly known as ASR Logistics Holdings
Limited). Since April 2013, Mr. Chou has been working as the financial
controller and company secretary of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings
Limited (a company listed on GEM, stock code: 8147) (“MP Group”). Mr.
Chou resigned as the financial controller and the company secretary of
MP Group in September 2014 and March 2017 respectively and has
been re-appointed as the company secretary and the authorised
representative on 1 April 2024. Mr. Chou also served as the chief financial
officer of HF Financial Group Limited and subsequently transferred to HF
Management (China) Limited from January 2015 to July 2016. Mr. Chou
has been the director of Archon Prime Strategic (Group) Limited since
April 2013. Mr. Chou has been an executive director and the authorised
representative of Xinming China Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2699) on 5 February
2020 and re-designated as a non-executive director on 1 May 2020. Mr.
Chou resigned as a non-executive director and the authorised
representative of Xinming China Holdings Limited on 18 November 2021
and 25 November 2021 respectively. Mr. Chou is also the company
secretary of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited (a company listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1152) on 30 April 2024,
an independent non-executive director of Singasia Holdings Limited (a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8293) on 8
March 2024, an independent non-executive director of King Stone Energy
Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
663) on 22 April 2024 and an independent director of Junee Limited, a
company listed on NASDAQ (Nasdag: JUNE) on 1 April 2024.

Mr. Chou obtained a bachelor of arts degree in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2003. Mr. Chou was
admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant in November 2011. He was also admitted as a member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in November 2010
and subsequently a fellow member in November 2015.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group primarily adopts the principles and basis of the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG
Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules, with
an aim to establish a sound environmental, social and governance
structure.

This report covers the Group’s overall performance in two subject
areas, namely, environmental and social aspect of the business
operations in Hong Kong office for the period from 1 April 2023 to
31 March 2024 (the “Year” or “2024”), unless otherwise stated.

This report comprises the review of environmental, social and
governance areas (“ESG”), which sets out the Company and its
major subsidiaries’ policies and practices in respect of three
environmental aspects and eight social aspects in accordance with
ESG Guide for the Year. This report is designed to allow the
Company’s stakeholders, such as Shareholders, investors,
customers, suppliers, employees, creditors, regulators and the
general public to have comprehensive understanding of the long-
term sustainability information of the Group. The Group seeks to
balance the views and interests of these stakeholders through
constructive conversation with a view to setting the course for long
term prosperity. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the environmental, social and governance risks of the
Group, and ensuring that relevant risk management and internal
control systems are in place and operate effectively.

Unless otherwise specified, the reporting boundary of this report
covers the principal businesses of the Group. We regularly review
the scope of the ESG Report to ensure that significant impacts to
the Group’s overall business portfolio are covered.
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The basis of reporting principles:

° Materiality:

The Group determines material ESG issues by stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment.

° Quantitative:

Information is presented with quantitative measure, whenever
feasible, including information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions used and provision of
comparative data.

° Consistency:

The Report will use consistent methodologies for meaningful
comparisons in the past years unless improvements in
methodology are identified.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG
issues. During the Year, the Board, the management and the ESG
working team spent significant time in evaluating the impacts of
ESG-related risks towards the operation and formulating ESG-
related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The oversight of the
Board ensures that the management and the ESG working team
can have all the right tools and resources to oversee the ESG
issues.

The management and ESG working team is primarily responsible
for reviewing and supervising the ESG process and risk
management of the Group. ESG governance matters and ESG-
related issues are reviewed at the regular meeting during the Year.

The Board has identified potential and material issues to the
business and its stakeholders. The Board has also taken part in the
materiality assessment as one of the key stakeholders of the
company in providing constructive opinions on the materiality of
ESG issues.
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3 MATERIALITY MATRIX 3 EEZMEM
During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of FRN - AEEHZARE L ENELHEFARE
environmental, social and operation related issues, and assessed TR - WBASBRENGZERELHED
their importance to stakeholders and the Group through various ERAEENEEN
channels.
Importance to the Group
HAEENEEM
Low Medium High
& A =
High e Anti-discrimination e Talent management e Customers’ satisfaction
= RIFAE AT ERE Level
e Protecting labour rights e Staff training and promotion XEPMERE
IREES TR opportunity e Anti-corruption
w BT REA#E RES
) e Staff compensation and e Product quality and safety
k=) . =R = RSN
S 4 welfarg pohmfs EnEERTE
ER 8 T8 REFEER e Suppliers management
S HERE R
n 7 .
S jn e QOccupational health and
g8 workplace safety
5 & BMERERTIESMES
§_ Medium e Community involvement e Use of resources e Operational compliance
£ s an =l BREHA HEAH
e Protecting customers’
privacy
REZPEL
e Air emissions
REBHEN
Low e Preventive measures for e Non-hazardous wastes e Use of raw materials
® child and forced labour produced [ RHE
HET KB EBMIERE EXNBEEY e Hazardous wastes produced
it} EERNBEEY
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The table underneath shows aspects on the ESG Guide to be TR NESGRERIDFFEEFTEMNER « A
assessed and those ESG issues were determined to be material to REERHREENSBEANESGEE °
the Group.
ESG Aspects as set forth in ESG Guide Material ESG issues to the Group
(ESG =155 )+ Fr# ESG B H HAEENSEEXWESGHE
(A) Environmental
A) |E
A1 Emissions Energy consumption
Al R RE2
A2  Use of Resources Use of energy and paper
A2 BEIREM BEIR M AR SR (5
A3 Environment and Natural Resources
A3 EIRERAEIR
A4 Climate Change
A4 RUREME
(B) Social
(B) H&
B1  Employment and Labour Practices Labour practices
Bl ERMBEIER BITER
B2  Health and Safety Workplace health and safety
B2 ERHEZE TESMERRERZ S
B3  Development and Training Employee development and training
B3 & KIE BT R REI
B4  Labour Standards Anti-child and forced labour
B4 45 TR feE T Ksahilss T
B5  Supply Chain Management Supply chain management
B5 fEsEE IR HrEEEn
B6  Product Responsibility Product responsibility
B6 EmafE EmEE
B7  Anti-corruption Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money laundering
B7 RES k&R - REFF R ROEE
B8 Community Involvement Community programs, employee volunteering and donation
B8 #ESH HEES - B TEREE &I
MR EEER AR / £1£2024 25
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ENVIRONMENTAL

Environmental protection is one of the core values of the Group.
The Group has proactively looked for and implemented new
technology at various stages of its business in order to minimise its
impact on the environment. The Group’s products are designed to
be safe and environmental friendly for customer use, meaning
recyclable and safe to dispose materials are specified in its designs,
and clean production processes are adopted in its business
process. Moreover, unnecessary packaging that can cause harm to
environment is not introduced into its products.

The Group considers environmental protection an essential
component of sustainable and responsible business. The Group
strives to negative impacts on the environment and to seek
environmental friendly methods of operation. Given the nature of
the Group’s business, electricity was the most significant resources
consumed in Hong Kong, Macau and Shenzhen, the PRC during
the Year.

The Current Environmental Policies

The Group’s main task is to measure and report the efforts in
reducing carbon footprints, promote waste reduction at source,
enhance its waste disposal management and set targets on
environmental performance. To minimise the environmental impacts
concerning the activities, products and services, the Group will:

° comply with applicable legal requirements and other
requirements which relate to the Group’s environmental
aspects, and to which the Group subscribes;

o identify environmental impacts associated with the operations
and set the targets to reduce stress on the environment in
consideration of social expectations; and

. prevent pollution, reduce waste and minimise the
consumption of resources from all daily operations and
actively promote recycle, reuse and replace;

° educate, train and motivate employees to develop a social
viewpoint that enables them to conduct business activities in
an environmentally responsible manner.
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The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are operated in
compliance with the following laws and regulations which have
significant impact:

a. the Law of the PRC on Import and Export Commodity
Inspection (A R H MBI A i@ is);

b. Guangdong Safety Technology and Prevention Regulation
(ERAE L2 HERIED);

c.  Product Quality Law of the PRC (P #EARLNHERE &
=D,

d.  Environmental Protection Law of the PRC /% A & A1 E
RIEREL);

e. the Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of
Environmental Noise Pollution 3 A R L B IR B 1R85
ABFIEED;

f. the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes {F A K& HF1EH &
BEYSRARRNIRE);

g. the Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection {3 :% 18 E IR 35 R & & 1 15 01);
and

h.  the Anti-terrorian Law of the People’s Republic of China
Z2 AR KB R Z M E &%) and Guangdong Safety
Technology and Prevention Regulation { & B & % & £ il i
E0EIRIEM1).
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A1.1. Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption
During the Year, the key environmental impacts from the
Group’s operations were energy and paper consumptions.
To achieve environmental protection, the Group encourages
employees increase the use of e-statement or scanning
instead of traditional photocopying to reduce the use of
paper and greenhouse gas emissions; to switch-off all
computers and office equipment (such as lighting and air-
conditioner) at the end of each working day.

(@  Since the Group did not have town fuel and town gas
consumption during the Year, therefore no relevant
emissions data is available.

(b)  the Company had certain motor vehicles during the
Year, the emissions data applied to the Group’s motor
vehicles are set out below:

Al REBREDEREMN PR E R
RER AREBEEPHMELENTIERE
FERERMAARER - RERRFHRE
AEEEZBMETENERETHRRATHE
REBGEH  WRADHERERIAER
Bk ESETEAKRE - BEMA
BB AR (IR R =) -

(@)  ARAEENF AL TR
KR eg - iR AR B B
]

b)) MNER KARREEETAE EF
MNAKETER S REERIIMT -

Key Performance Index (“KPI”)
BEENER (BRENEED

2024 Unit %

2024 & By %

NOx 118.2 g 34%
REW =)

SOx 224.0 g 64%
meEry I

PM 8.7 g 2%
EPNGEEL R )

Total 350.9 g 100%
By )
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A1.2. Greenhouse Gas Emission Al.2 BEREHK
KPI
BARENIER
2024 Unit %

2024 B %
Scope 1
HE1
Direct Emission 41,083 Kg 35%
BHEHEN NI
Scope 2
giE2
Indirect Emission 76,611 Kg 65%
fEEHE NI
Scope 3
E3
Other Indirect Emission - Kg 0%
HAth PRI HE A N
Total 117,694 Kg 100%
wme NI

During the Year, there were 117,694 kg (2023: 96,794 kg) of
greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and
nitrous oxide) emitted from the Group’s operation.

The total gross floor area coverage for the Group during the
Year was 2,102 m? (2023: 2,102 m?). The annual emission
intensity was 56.0 KgCO,e/m? (2023: 46.0 KgCO,e/m?).

The Group has previously set the amount of GHG emission
for the Year to 100kg. The target will be reviewed in 2026.
The Group has achieved this target during the Year.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations:

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste of the Group during the Year. In
addition, no significant fines or non-monetary sanctions for
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations had been
reported in the Year.
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A1.3 & A1.4 Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group generates no hazardous waste in its operation.
However, there were non-hazardous waste which the
management of the Group believe to be insignificant arose
from the use of electricity during the Group’s operation.
Wastes produced by the Group during production were
passed to qualified recycler for recycling.

A1.5&A1.6

A2.1

Since the management of the Group believe the non-
hazardous waste is insignificant, there is no mitigation plan
for handle non-hazardous waste.

Use of resource

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business
activities on the environment, and supporting environmental
protection. In particular, a number of initiatives designed to
conserve resources were introduced to promote employee
awareness of the need to achieve efficient utilisation of
resources.

Energy conservation will not be effective without the support
of employees. The Group has been encouraging employees
to establish energy-saving habits at office, such as switching
off lights and electronic appliances before leaving the office,
as well as maintaining indoor temperature at 25.5°C. To
further conserve electricity, the Group has leased energy-
efficient high-speed printers for its daily operation. The Group
believed that the usage of water consumption and usage of
packing material is insignificant.
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During the Year, the energy consumption by type in total of
the Group are showed as below:

RERN - AEBRBREREFEERIZESR]
o

8

KPI
BRENER
% increase/
2024 2023 Unit (decrease)
i (/JEE'J‘
2024 F 2023 FF By ZBED

Electricity consumed 141,873 106,793 kWh 33%
TE TR

Oil consumed 147,703 140,669 kWh 5%
HFEE TR

Total energy consumed 289,576 247,462 kWh 17%
BRERNRER TEE

Total floor area of facilities 2,102 2,102 m? -
e AR E AR K

Electricity consumed per square meter 138 118 kWh/m? 17%
BYAKAEE FRE,F K

The Group has set targets to 300,000 kWh of the total
energy consumption (i.e. electricity and oil consumed). The
target will be reviewed in 2026. The Group has achieved the
target during the Year.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group’s activities did not have direct significant impact
on the environment and natural resources beyond the
resource consumption and emissions issues discussed
above. The Group will continue to explore ways of integrating
environmental considerations into its business decisions and
the services it provides, including promoting and supporting
ways to combat climate change.

There was no non-compliance case with any environmental
laws and regulations for the Year.
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A4 Climate change
Global climate change is getting worse and global warming
has been a serious problem. The Group, as a responsible
enterprise, is committed to implement certain measures to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions from business operations.

To cope with adverse weather conditions, the Group takes
precautionary and protective measures including home office
arrangement, work schedule rearrangement and
redeployment of resources, to ensure the safety of
employees, to minimize the impact on business process and
to avoid any physical damages to assets of the Group.

B. SOCIAL
Being a responsible business and employer, the Group is
committed to consistently looking for ways to meet the corporate
social responsibilities. The Group focuses on the welfare of its staff,
environment and community as well as its business partners.

B1. Employment and Labour Practices

The Group places a significant emphasis on developing
human capital, provides competitive remuneration and
welfare packages. Promotion opportunities and salary
adjustments are benchmarked against individual
performance. Employees are entitled to benefits such as
annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave, marriage leave,
funeral leave and medical coverage in accordance with local
regulations.

The Group emphasises on equal opportunities for all
personnel in respect of hiring, pay rates, training and
development, promotion and other terms of employment.
The Group is committed to providing a work environment
free from any form of discrimination on the basis of ethnicity,
gender, religion, age, disability or sexual orientation.

The Group has a wide diversity of cultures including
employees with different genders, ages, skills, educational
backgrounds, industry experiences and other qualifications in
order to achieve the most suitable composition and balance.
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The Group’s remuneration package is structured with
reference to the individual performance, working experience
and prevailing salary levels in the market. In additional to
basic salaries and mandatory provident fund for the Group’s
Hong Kong employees, fringe benefits including flexible leave
arrangement, medical coverage scheme and annual dinner
are available.

The Group complies with relevant ordinances and statutory
requirements, such as the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong. During the Year,
the Group has had no non-compliance with any laws and
regulations on employment.

The employee handbook of the Group’s PRC subsidiary had
been developed in accordance with the Labour Law of the
PRC and has been distributed to all employees since they
joined. The remuneration policies are determined on the basis
of performance, qualification and experience of individual
employee. The remuneration generally includes salaries and
allowances.

During the Year, the Group’s PRC subsidiary had subscribed
to those basic pension insurance, basic medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, occupational injury insurance,
maternity insurance as prescribed by the Social Insurance
Law of the PRC, as well as housing fund schemes as
prescribed by the Regulations on the Administration of
Housing Fund.

Employees’ wages, overtime payments and related benefits
are made not less than the local government’s minimum
requirements. The normal working hours for general
employees are generally 8 hours a day and 40 hours a week.
Integrated computation of working hours is implemented with
reference to the requirements of the Labour Law of the PRC.
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The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are
operated in compliance with the following laws and
regulations which have significant impact:

a. Employees’” Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

b. Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

c. Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

d. Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

e. Construction Workers Registration Ordinance (Chapter
583 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

f. Regulatory Regime to which SE Macau is subject in
relation to Labour Matters in Macau;

g.  the Labour Law of the PRC (/R #E A R MBI A EE);
h. the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisional
Regulations on Collection and Payment of Social

Insurance Premium (& (R BB E 1T1451); and

i. The Regulations on Management of Housing Provident
Fund (EE RIES BEIREA).

AEBBNBEREEBELEETUTAR
BAFEBNERIER

a.  (EBHWERD) (FBEDE282

)

b.  ERANERBELTER) (BHEEHIE
3148)

c. (mEITEMKD)(EEZEDFE608

)

d. CGaERATESFHENEN) (F5EH
F485F) ;
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583%) :
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Staff Composition

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of 77
(20283: 77) staff, including operational office, sales and
marketing, and back office division. All staff members are
allocated in Hong Kong and the PRC.

(a)  Employee’ s Employment Type Distribution

ABEH
R2024F3A31 8 AEBELEAT7TEE
T (20234 : 77%)  BREREBHAE -
& MBITHBREZERAE - TETLHE
ABHDREESARFE o

@ RIEFEEIZH5 M

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
Employment type Male Female Male Female
ERER Bt 7 S g
Part-time staff 0% 0% 0% 0%
FBET
Full-time staff 75% 25% 79% 21%
FPBET
Total 75% 25% 79% 21%
By
(b)  Employee’ s Age and Gender Distribution (b)  IZIEEFH R IEFIE 5 H) 5
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
Age Group Male Female Male Female
FHe AR Bt feg St M
0-15 0% 0% 0% 0%
0% -1575%
16-18 0% 0% 0% 0%
1655 -18 5%
19-30 19% 5% 12% 4%
1955 -30 5%
31-45 37% 10% 36% 8%
3175745 7%
46-60 18% 10% 29% 9%
46 5% —60 5%,
=61/>61 1% 0% 3% 0%
613%3A
Total 75% 25% 79% 21%
mE
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(c)  Employee’ s Geographical and Gender Distribution

) HESMERILEE DS

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
Geographical Male Female Male Female
& Bt 7 S g
Hong Kong 49% 17% 58% 13%
6
The PRC 26% 8% 21% 8%
+
Total 75% 25% 79% 21%
By
The Group will continue to provide a well-structured and AEBBEBEREIRBEBRY BE
caring environment to employees to raise their sense of FIRE MRS ASEEINGERET
belonging and work efficiency in the Group. TERUE ©
The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with RER AEBEEMmELEFRE RBESRS
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant T TERHE - RERE - #ehs %
impact on compensation and dismissal, recruitment and Rt RIEEREMENRFEEERR
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, OISR REBEMEANEREMNS -
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare of AN - RER - REERETETEBE
the Group during the Year. In addition, no non-compliance ERBHIEHE NS R HEHBORE -
with relevant laws and regulations that resulted in significant
fines or sanctions had been reported during the Year.
Employees’ Health and Safety B2 EEREREHEZZE

The management of the Group recognises that the
operational efficiency of an enterprise and the maintenance
of a healthy and safety working environment for all employees
are closely related. The Group continues to maintain a
healthy and safety working environment for its employees so
as to attract and retain talented employees which is in line
with established internal guidelines and systems of the
Group.

AEEEEERHICENSERTER
ERETAR - ERELENTIERES
IR - AEBEERETHEBRERR
2O THERE  ARSITEETAANEE
MEMAFEAEFRNEFET -
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The Group provides its employee with flexible rest leave
arrangement, medical and hospital scheme. The Group
understands that a good working environment for its
employees with a safe and comfortable working condition is
very important. A set of clear guideline of work arrangement
under typhoon and rainstorm warning had been formulated
by the Group for its employees to follow.

Occupational Health and Safety Data
The information of work accidence are set out below:

2024
2024 FF
Health and Safety Male Female
BEREZE ] zit

AEBERETRHEBEENKSMKRERLHE -
BRELBEGTE - AEEBAQRE TRH
—flAZE  FENTHEREFRFER - X
SECHEAMNRR  RRESTHER
HrEsl MEETHILTTE -

BEEFHET2EN
THEERNERITRATR
2023 2022
2023 %F 2022 F
Male Female Male Female
M M 51 M

Rate of work-related fatalities -

E TYERBAR ML T B9 A B

Lost hours due to work injury -
E TR TIERH

During the Year, the Group had no non-compliance with any
laws and regulations on occupational health and safety.

Development and Training

Staff development forms an important aspect of the Group’s
human resources policy. The Group places a strong
emphasis on providing training to its employees to retain
appropriate and suitable personnel for its long-term
development.

The Group has committed to provide on-the-job education
and training to its employees in order to enhance their
knowledge and skills. All employees are encouraged to
enhance their skills and knowledge at every opportunity in
order to perform their current job more efficiently and
effectively and to be better prepared for career opportunities
which may arise. During the Year, regular training courses
were provided to the employees included but not limited to
orientation training, technical training and quality training.

Performance evaluations are initiated annually. In order to
recognise the value in the skill and experience of the Group’s
employees, the Group has adopted a policy that any
promotions will be considered internally first before hiring any
outside staff. It is the Group’s policy to select the most
suitable candidate for appointment to a higher rank based on
merit, rather than on the seniority of the candidates.
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Labour Standard

The Group is fully awarded that child labour and forced
labour violate fundamental human rights, International Labour
Conventions and Recommendations and poses a threat to
sustainable social and economic development. Therefore, the
Group strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations.
The Group prohibits the hiring of child labour by reviewing the
actual age of the interviewee during the recruitment process,
including the examination of identity documents and detailed
records. The Group only carries out the requirements of
standard labour contract and does not adopt any means to
unfairly restrict the employment relationship between
employee and the enterprise by, for example, withholding a
deposit or identity documents.

For entry registration, all employees must present to the
Group valid documents as follows: (i) identity card and
vocational qualification certificate; (i) social security card; (iii)
medical or health certificate; (iv) recent photos; and (v) other
relevant information and documents.. The above procedures
can ensure no child labour will be employed.

Being people-oriented, the Group has hosted various social
events and activities such as company trips and parties for
its employees with the aim of promoting work-life balance.

During the Year, the Group had no non-compliance with any
child labour and forced labour laws.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has the greatest respect for the laws and
regulations that govern its business. The Group strives to
adhere to international best practices and conduct fair and
unbiased procurement processes when dealing with
suppliers.

The Group adheres to the principle of transparency and
implements the value of honesty, integrity and fairness in its
supply chain management. The Group’s procurement
procedures provide directions and guidelines on evaluation
and engagement when dealing with suppliers of goods and
services to ensure business is conducted with legally,
financially and technically-sound entities. In addition, approval
procedures are in place to ensure that supplier engagements
are monitored and approved by the appropriate level of
management.
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During the selection process of suppliers, the Group takes
into account such as its reputation, quality of services and
products, past performance and green elements.

When choosing a new supplier, the Group give priority to the
suppliers who are environmentally friendly and socially
responsible in order to promote and support environmentally
preferable products and services in supply chain.

Performance of suppliers impose direct impact on the
sustainability of the Group’s operation. The Group
implements the procedures on selection of suppliers strictly
to minimize both the environmental and social risks of the
Group’s supply chain. A systematic supplier management
mechanism has been set up to closely monitor the
performance of suppliers. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
has 72 major suppliers.

The geographical distribution of suppliers are set out below:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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EHEMEREZERET  AEENEREE
BIEERE RBELERER BEFXE
ARRRAZE ©

BEFHERE  AEEEEEEHRE
RighHteaBnHER ek
FEM D W REENNER LR -

HEFNRAEHASELCENAIHELRES
HEYZ  AEERBHATHERERD
BE URDAEEHEENRERITE
[EBE - RMBELE RFOHEY BRI
Bl BB R EREHRIR - R202443
A31H  AEEBET2REEMHER -

R B DM EERE N TRAT

By Location 2024
Rt EE 5 2024 £
Hong Kong 65%
B
China 33%
A
Korea 1%
CE:
Other countries 1%
HEMER
Total 100%
wm
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Product Responsibility

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer
satisfaction in terms of the products and services. Strenuous
efforts are made to ensure compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations relating to product health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters of the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates. The Group requires its
employees to comply with applicable governmental and
regulatory laws, rules, codes and regulations.

Quality Control and Product Warranty

Instruction guidelines regarding product quality inspection,
return and repair of defective products have been set to
further ensure that the quality of our products are up to
standard and customers who have received verified defective
products can get their replacement. Upon receiving a
defective unit of a product, the unit is subject to different
procedures depending on the situation, which will be
accepted for exchange or repair if the customer can provide
valid purchase and warranty documents. Our customer
service team is responsible for monitoring and handling
customer complaints and a set of procedures have been
formulated so that complaints can be categorized and solved
by the designated staff timely.

Data Privacy Protection

The Group emphasises the importance of protecting and
safe-guarding its customers’ privacy, especially for money
lenders’ information. Thereby, the Group would be cautious
upon the collection, procession and usage of customers’
personal data in order to comply with the provisions of the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

During the Year, the Group did not have any products
subject to recall and did not receive any compliant from its
customers in relation to either the quality of its services or
products. The Group had no non-compliance cases
regarding violations of relevant laws and regulations on
product responsibility and data privacy.
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Anti-corruption

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited.
The Group’s anti-corruption policies set out standards of
conduct to which all employees are required to adhere in
order to promote the integrity environment in the workplace.

The management believes that the integrity of business is the
foundation of corporate social responsibility, as well as a
fundamental element for a business’s competitive advantage
and sustainability. The Group is committed to the highest
possible standards of openness, probity and accountability.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
unless with the Group’s approval, Directors and employees
are prohibited from accepting any valuable items from co-
workers, customers, suppliers or other stakeholders. Unless
with approval the Board, senior management members are
also prohibited from engaging in any activities that involve a
potential conflict of interest with the Group or may do harm
to the Group’s overall interests. Breaches are subject to
disciplinary actions, including termination of employment
contracts where necessary.

Various policies have also been formulated to accord with the
Securities and Futures Commission’s Guideline on Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter- Terrorist Financing,
including the basic procedures for customer identification
and due diligence, suspicious transactions report and
recordkeeping. Ongoing staff training has also been carried
out to ensure each of the employees is fully aware of these
policies.

During the Year, the Group provide 1 training hours in relation
to anti-corruption to its staffs.

In the Year, there was no legal case concerning corruption
brought against the Group or employees.

Community Involvement

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the
communities in which it operates and to maintain close
communications and interactions with the communities in
order to contribute to local development from time to time.

The Group strives to improve its social image and social
responsibility through community investment. All employees
of the Group are encouraged to participate in helping and
supporting the local communities and neighbours with their
own initiatives.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance. The Board considers that enhanced public accountability
and corporate governance are beneficial to the healthy growth of the
Group, improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding the
interests of Shareholders.

The Company has adopted and complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to The Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) as its own code and has complied with the CG Code for
the year ended 31 March 2024, except for the following deviation. The
Board has continued to monitor and review the corporate governance
principles and practices to ensure compliance.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Wang was appointed as the Chairman and the chief
executive officer on 13 May 2024. Given that the scale of the Group is not
mega and that the Company’s and the Group’s current business
operations and administration have been stable, the Board is justified that
the current structure is able to enable the effective discharge of the duties
of both positions. However, going forward, the Board will review from
time to time the need to separate the roles of the Chairman and the chief
executive officer if the situation warrants it.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of
Dealings”) as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Upon the specific enquiry made to all the Directors, apart from Mr. Wang
Yicheng, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the
Model Code and the Required Standard of Dealings regarding securities
transactions by the Directors for the period from the date of the Listing to
the date of this report.

According to code provision Rule 5.56(a) of the GEM Listing Rules, a
Director must not deal in any securities of the Company on any day on
which its financial results are published and during the period of 60 days
immediately preceding the publication date of the annual results or, if
shorter, the period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the
publication date of the results. According to Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing
Rules, a director must not deal in any securities of the issuer without first
notifying in writing the chairman or a director (otherwise than himself)
designated by the board of directors of the Company for the specific
purpose and receiving a dated written acknowledgement.
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An executive Director, Mr. Wang Yicheng, due to inadvertent mistakes,
purchased 136,230,000 shares of the Company from 30 May 2024 to 13
June 2024 without notifying the designated Director or the Board and
obtaining the designated Director’s approval before purchasing the
relevant shares, which was in contravention of Rules 5.56(a) and 5.61 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has taken the following remedial steps to avoid the
reoccurrence of similar incidents:

° Communicated and reminded Mr. Wang Yicheng that the blackout
period of the Group;
° Recirculated the Model Code to the Board and reminded the

Directors of the procedures that they should follow should they
wish to deal in the Company’s shares; and

° Arranged refresher training on Directors’ duties under the GEM
Listing Rules for Mr. Wang Yicheng.

The Board considers that by adopting the aforesaid measures, it would
enable the Directors to understand the dealing restriction during the
black-out period and the procedures that they need to follow before
dealing in the securities of the Company. The Board therefore considered
that the implementation of the above measures would minimize the
chance of breach of the Model Code by the Directors in the future.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, including four executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and four Independent non-
executive Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yicheng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 26 January 2024 and re-designated on 13 May 2024)
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen (Resigned on 30 November 2023)
Mr. Lin Shixing (Appointed on 22 December 2023)
Ms. Zhang Yushan (Appointed on 12 April 2024)
Mr. Hui Cho Lung (Resigned on 31 May 2024)
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Non-executive Director

Ms. Leung Wai Hing, Ella (Resigned on 31 December 2023)
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph (Resigned on 15 January 2024)
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (Re-designated on 13 May 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Billy

Mr. Wong Ching Wan

Mr. Ke Tianxiong (Appointed on 22 January 2024)

Mr. Poon Wai Hung Richard (Resigned on 15 February 2024)
Mr. Yang Chuan (Appointed on 12 April 2024)

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of all Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience,
knowledge and execution ability to hold the position so as to carry out his
or her duties effectively and efficiently.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, one general meeting, fourteen
regular Board meetings and other Board meetings were held in addition
to circulation of written resolution. Attendance record of these meetings
are shown below:

FHITES

2EELTL (R20234F 12 31 HEHT)
EHBILIE (R 2024 4 1 A 15 HEHT)
BrERE %4 (R 2024 5 A 13 HFAF)

BIYFHITES

EEERE

T RIS (R 2024 F 1 H 22 HIEZA(T)

BRI A (R 2024 F 2 A 15 HEHT)
G (R2024F 4 512 AEZ(T)

FEEENESRERFBIREAFREERERE
BERE] — & IAEECRBEAFMEBEHIRA
KEER - ERTEFAB LR - MBRBITESD
RUABER BB - B RS BITR

HE2024F3ANALFE  BRTEREERAER
BERIT—ARERE - 14XERESTTRREMES
BgH THREFELEIIRAT

General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member BE®A Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
RRKXE Ezg ERZEE FHzEg REZES

Number of total meetings BERAY 1 14 3 6 6
Number of Meetings EHEEEZ

attended/Total Y/ B
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Wang Yicheng (Chairman and T (L EFRTHAER)

Chief Executive Officer) (R2024%F 1 H26 H

(Appointed on 26 January 2024 FEZT 2024 F

and re-designated on 13 May 2024) 5 A 13 HAE) N/ATER il N/ATER N/ATE R N/AT i@ A
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline mEXR L+ 1 14/14 N/ATER 6/6 N/ATiE A
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen 1SR L 4 (K 2023 F

(Resigned on 30 November 2023) 11430 AFHE) 1 7/8 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATEH
Mr. Lin Shixing MR B (K 2023

(Appointed on 22 December 2023) 12722 HEZ(T) N/AZiE R 2/2 N/AiE R N/AN i N/A i A
Ms. Zhang Yushan R L (12024 F

(Appointed on 12 April 2024) 4512 AEE() NATEH NATEH NATEH NATEH NATER
Mr. Hui Cho Lung AR (K 2024 5

(Resigned on 31 May 2024) 5431 HEE) 1 14/14 N/ANE R NATER N/ANE R
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General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member BE%A Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
REAS Ezg ERZEE FMzee REZEE

Non-executive Director FUTES
Ms. Leung Wai Hing, Ella PEELL (R2023F

(Resigned on 31 December 2023) 12431 AFHT) 1 8/10 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATiE A
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph AL (R 2024 F

(Resigned on 15 January 2024) 1A 15HE(T) 1 7110 N/ATE N/A7RiE N/ATER
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony BLBfE L4 (R 2024 F

(Re-designated on 13 May 2024) 5813 84(F) 1 14/14 N/ATEF N/AT NATEHR
Independent non-executive BIFHTES

Directors
Mr. Chung Bill BTEEE 1 13/14 3/3 6/6 6/6
Mr. Wong Ching Wan ITEELEE 1 14/14 3/3 6/6 6/6
Mr. Ke Tianxiong TR A (R 2024 F

(Appointed on 22 January 2024) 1520 AEZE) N/ATER 2/2 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATiE A
Mr. Poon Wai Hung Richard BRI E (R2024F

(Resigned on 15 February 2024) 2515 HEHT) 1 10/13 3/3 4/6 4/6
Mr. Yang Chuan BIISEE (R2024 5

(Appointed on 12 April 2024) 47 12A#ZE) N/AT iR N/ATN i N/AT iR N/AN i N/AN i A
THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD EESNRE

The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of management
company’s business and is collectively responsible for the Company’s
affair under the Board’s direction and supervision. All the Directors should
make decision objectively in the interests of the Company

The overall responsibilities of the Board include considering and making

decisions on the following matters:

M

setting the cooperate goals of the Group and formulating the
Group’s strategy and monitoring the implementation;

diversification and extension of activities into new business area;

approving the annual, half year and quarterly results;

reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems;

(iv)  dividend policy;

(v)  material acquisitions and disposal;
(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

monitoring the performance of the Management; and

determining and reviewing the composition and diversity of the

Board.
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 18 January
2018. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board
that should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business
and compliance with policies. The composition and diversity policies of
the Board is reviewed annually and regularly. The Board should ensure
that its changes in composition will not result in any undue interference.
The Board members should possess appropriate professionalism,
experience and trustworthiness in performing duties and functions. The
Board would diversify its members according to the Company’s situations
and need. While participating in nomination and recommendation of
director candidates during the year, each member of the Board may
consider a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, or professional
experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various
business development and management. The Board is to review the
policy concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose the policy
or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance report, including
any quantitative targets and standards and its progress with policy
implementation.

In 2024, the Board has reviewed the diversity of the Board and
considered the Board composition and diversity policy is appropriate.

MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the chief executive officer and senior management (the
“Management”). The delegated functions and assignments are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to entering into any significant transactions by the above mentioned
officers.

The overall responsibilities of the Management include considering and
making decisions on the following matters:

(i) implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the
Board;

(i) strategic planning of different business and functions;

(i)

closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance
with plans and budgets;

(iv)

putting adequate operational, planning and financial control
systems in place; and

v) managing the Group’s day-to-day business.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three Independent non-executive Directors; and
at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation in
writing of his independence pursuant to the factors set out in Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors were independent during 2024
since their respective date of appointment.

All Independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all
corporate communications containing the names of the Directors by the
Company.

Mr. Tony Yuen (a non-executive Director) and Ms. Jazzy Wong (a member
of the senior management) are spouse. Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline
Yuen (an executive Director) are siblings. Ms. Jazzy Wong and Ms.
Pauline Yuen are sisters-in-law. Save as otherwise disclosed herein, there
is no family or other material relationship among members of the Board.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, should keep
abreast of their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the
businesses and activities of the Group. The Group also provides briefings
and other training to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and
skills, and updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors provided their
training record to the Company in respect of their participation in training

HZE2024F3A31HILFE  EERFEELX2HSEE
EEAIMARNESZBERBENFZINES (WHE

activities such as attending seminars relevant to their duties and 5 &) WA R G HREENAL S - FBOT ¢
responsibilities as directors of a listed company, particulars of which are
as follows:
Reading Attending
materials the seminar
relevant to Attending relevant to
directors’ the seminar the skill of the
duties and provided by the Director’s
responsibilities Company position
MERESRE HEREERN
kBEE® HEARDE BEEERY
pE REHHTE g
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Yicheng (Chairman and TRk (FERITHARE)
Chief Executive Officer) (R2024%F 1 26 HEZ(T
(Appointed on 26 January 2024 20245 A 13 HFTE)
and re-designated on 13 May 2024) N/A 75 A N/ATNE A N/ATNiE A
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline [FEScE v v v
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen AR L& (R2023 F
(Resigned on 30 November 2023) 11 530 HEHT) v/ 4 v
Mr. Lin Shixing MR B & (R 2023 FF
(Appointed on 22 December 2023) 12522 AEZ(T) N/A T3 A N/A 3 A N/A T3 A
Ms. Zhang Yushan sREH 22+ (R 2024
(Appointed on 12 April 2024) 4812 HEZ(E) N/A 5 A N/A 3 F N/A N A
Mr. Hui Cho Lung FHEEE SR (R 2024
(Resigned on 31 May 2024) 5431 AEHE) 4 4 v
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. Leung Wai Hing, Ella REBAL (R2023F
(Resigned on 31 December 2023) 12 A 31 HEHE) 4 4 v
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph ERB NS (R 2024 F
(Resigned on 15 January 2024) 1.4 15 AEHE) v 4 v
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony BB & 2 4 (2024 &F
(Re-designated on 13 May 2024) 5H 13 HFF) 4 4 v
Independent non-executive Directors By EHITES
Mr. Chung Billy BEERE v 4 4
Mr. Wong Ching Wan IEERLE v v v
Mr. Ke Tianxiong TR 4 (R 2024 FF
(Appointed on 22 January 2024) 15220 AEZ(T) N/A T3 A N/A 3 A N/A T3 A
Mr. Poon Wai Hung Richard EETE SR A (R 2024 F
(Resigned on 15 February 2024) 2815 HEFHE) v v v
Mr. Yang Chuan B (2024 F
(Appointed on 12 April 2024) 4512 HEZ(F) N/A i A N/A TN A N/A 7~ A
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Wang is both the Chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company. The role of the Chairman is primarily responsible for managing
the Board, whereas the role of the chief executive officer is primarily
responsible for overseeing the various businesses of the Group. Their
respective roles and responsibilities are summarised as follows:

Responsibilities of the chairman include: (i) leading the Board and
ensuring that the Board functions effectively and smoothly; (i) chairing the
Board and Shareholder’s meetings; (iii) approving the agenda for each
Board meeting, taking into account, where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the other Directors and the Company Secretary for inclusion
in the agenda; (iv) ensuring all Directors receive all relevant information
prior to each meeting and are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings; (v) ensuring all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely and constructive manner; (vi) encouraging all Directors,
including the independent non-executive Directors, to actively participate
in all Board and Board committees meetings and promoting a culture of
openness for the Directors to share and voice their concerns on all
matters during each meeting; (vi) ensuring good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established and followed; and (viii) taking
appropriate steps to provide effective communication with Shareholders
and to ensure that Shareholders’ view are communicated to the Board as
a whole.

Responsibilities of the chief executive officer include: () implementing the
Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board; (i) strategic planning of
different business and functions; (i) closely monitoring operational and
financial results in accordance with plans and budgets; (iv) assuming full
accountability to the Board for all aspects of the Group’s operations and
performance; (v) maintaining ongoing dialogue with the Chairman and the
other Directors; (vi) developing and leading an effective executive team;
(vii) putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems
in place; and (viii) representing the Company and managing the Group’s
day-to-day business.

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Wang was appointed as the Chairman and the chief
executive officer on 13 May 2024. Given that the scale of the Group is not
mega and that the Company’s and the Group’s current business
operations and administration have been stable, the Board is justified that
the current structure is able to enable the effective discharge of the duties
of both positions. However, going forward, the Board will review from
time to time the need to separate the roles of the Chairman and the chief
executive officer if the situation warrants it.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years and subject to
retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”). At each annual general
meeting, not less than one third of the Directors then in office shall retire
and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Each executive Director, non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Director is appointed for an initial term of three years and
renewable for successive terms of one year each commencing from the
day next after the expiry of the then current term, subject to rotation,
removal, vacation, or termination of such office as set out in the Articles
or the disqualification to act as a Director under the Articles. Each
independent non-executive Director is further required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change that may affect his
independence and must provide an annual confirmation of his
independence to the Company.

All existing executive Directors, non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors are entitled to a fixed remuneration per month or
fee per annum respectively. The remuneration of each Director is subject
to the annual review of the Board with reference to his/her contribution in
terms of time, effort and his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors during the year are
disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses
incurred during the performance of their duties to the Company and are
eligible for share options under the Share Option Scheme.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely, the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”), all with specific terms of reference clearly
defining the powers and responsibilities of the respective board
committees. All board committees are required by their respective terms
of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings
or recommendations.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference (revised pursuant to a board resolution on 30 December 2022)
that are in conformity of the requirements of the CG Code which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee is currently composed of the four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Billy, Mr. Wong Ching Wan, Mr.
Ke Tianxiong and Mr. Yang Chuan and chaired by Mr. Chung Billy, with
all members being independent non-executive Directors in full compliance
with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, three Audit Committee meetings
were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 44 of this
annual report.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include:

() Relationship with the Company’s auditor
(@ to consider and be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences.
In connection, the Audit Committee shall:

° consider all relationships between the Company and
the external auditor (including non-audit services);

° obtain from the external auditor annually information
about policies and processes for maintaining
independence and monitoring compliance with relevant
requirements, including those for rotation of audit
partners and staff; and

° meet with the external auditor, at least annually, in the
absence of the management, to discuss matters
relating to its audit fee, any issues arising from the
audit and any other matters the external auditor may
wish to raise;
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52

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditor includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to be part of
the audit firm nationally or internationally. When assessing the
external auditor’s independence or objectivity in relation to
non-audit service, the Audit Committee shall consider:

° whether the skills and experience of the audit firm
make it a suitable supplier of the non-audit services;

° whether there are safeguards in place to ensure that
there is no threat to the objectivity and independence
of the audit because the external auditor provides non-
audit services;

° the nature of the non-audit services, the related fee
levels and fee levels individually and in total relative to
the audit firm; and

° criteria for compensation of the individuals performing
the audit.

The Audit Committee should report to the Board, identifying
and making recommendation on any matters where action or
improvement is needed; and

to approve the policies on hiring employees or former
employees of the external auditors and monitoring the
application of these policies and consider whether there has
been or appears to be any impairment of the auditor’s
judgement or independence for the audit.
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(ii) Review of the Company’s financial information

(@)

(©

R REERRA

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and, if
prepare for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgements contained in them.
It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee to determine
the scope and extent of the review. The Audit Committee
may refer to relevant statements of auditing standards and
audited guidelines in relation to review of these reports for
guidance. In reviewing these reports before submission to
the Board, the Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(2)  major judgement areas;

(8)  significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(4)  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(5)  compliance with accounting standards; and

(6) compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting.

regarding point (a) above:

(1) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and Company’s senior management and the
Audit Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with
the Company’s auditors; and

(2)  the Audit Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in
the report and accounts, and it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditors.

to provide full details of any disagreement by the Audit

Committee with the accounting treatment adopted by the
Company.
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(iii)

54

Overseeing of the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures

(@)

to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee, or
by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and the internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigations findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on
its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in these terms of
reference and those set out in the code provisions as stated
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules from time to time;
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(m)

to review arrangements by which employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters, and the Audit Committee should ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

to act as the key representation body for overseeing the
Group’s relationship with the external auditor;

to establish a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees and those who deal with the Company (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence,
with the audit committee about possible improprieties in any
matter related to the Company;

to review the half-year report prepared by the Group’s
corporate guarantee committee on its work and information

relating to the provision of corporate guarantees; and

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

Major accomplishments in 2024 comprised the following:

(@)

reviewed the financial statements for disclosure on a
quarterly, half-yearly and annually basis, where applicable;

reviewed the external auditor’s significant findings and
management’s response to the recommendation raised, if
any;

reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system and
the adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting
function of the Group;

reviewed and approved the external auditor’s statutory audit
scope for 2024 and the letter of representation to be given by
the Board; and

considered and approved the 2024 external audit fees and
engagement letters.
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The Group’s internal control system is reviewed regularly by management.
With the view of enhancing the Group’s internal control system, during
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company had appointed McMillan
Woods Corporate Service Limited, as independent consultant, to review
the Group’s internal control systems and recommend actions to improve
our internal controls.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that the Group’s
internal control system was effective and in compliance with the
requirements of the CG Code D.2.1 for the year ended 31 March 2024.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditor for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and recommended approval to
the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference (revised pursuant to a board resolution on 30
December 2022 to extend the duty of the Remuneration Committee to
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
23 of the GEM Listing Rules) in accordance with the requirement of the
CG Code. The terms of reference are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is currently composed of the two executive
Directors and four Independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms.
Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline, Mr. Wang Yicheng, Mr. Chung Billy, Mr. Wong
Ching Wan, Mr. Ke Tianxiong and Mr. Yang Chuan and chaired by Mr.
Chung Billy.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, six Remuneration Committee

meetings were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 44
of this Report.
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The role and functions of the Remuneration Committee include: FTHEEenACRBEEE

0] to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy (i) REBEARRERESERAEBEAEEAEN
and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior R R R R ERMAEHENRE
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal FrolRTH IR - MEESREER
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(i) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals (i) HEESEHIEAHET N BIEmME MibEE
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; BEMF R

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

R REERRA

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to determine the policy and make recommendations to the Board
on remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to assess the performance of executive Directors;

to approve the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;
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(xi)  to form a view in respect of service contracts to be granted by the
Group under Rule 17.90 of the GEM Listing Rules that require
shareholders’ approval and advise shareholders (other than
shareholders who are Directors with a material interests in the
service contracts and their associates) as to whether the terms are
fair and reasonable, advise whether such contracts are in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and
advise shareholders how to vote. An independent non-executive
Director who has a material interest in any such contracts shall not
sit on the Remuneration Committee;

(xi)  to consider the granting of share options to Directors pursuant to
any share option scheme adopted by the Company;

(xiii)  to ensure due compliance with any relevant disclosure requirements
in respect of the remuneration of Directors under the GEM Listing
Rules, the Companies Ordinance and any other statutory
requirements;

(xiv) to consult the Chairman of the Board and/or chief executive of the
Company about their remuneration proposals for other executive
Directors;

(xv)  to do any such things to enable to the Remuneration Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board;

(xvi) to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
Memorandum of Association and the Articles or imposed by
legislation and the GEM Listing Rules;

(xvii) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules; and

(xviii) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

Major accomplishments in 2024 comprised the review of matters relating
to the remuneration packages and emoluments of Directors and senior
management. In 2024 and as at the date of this report, there has been no
material matters relating to the share option scheme of the Company
which required review or approval by the Remuneration Committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference (revised pursuant to a board resolution on 30 December
2022). The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
conformity with the requirements of the CG Code and are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the one executive
Director and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang
Yicheng, Mr. Chung Billy, Mr. Wong Ching Wan, Mr. Ke Tianxiong and
Mr. Yang Chuan and chaired by Mr. Chung Billy.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, six Nomination Committee meetings
were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 44 of this
annual report.

The role and functions of the Nomination Committee include:

(i) to formulate nomination policy for consideration of the Board and
implement the nomination policy laid down by the Board;

(i) without prejudice to the generality of foregoing;

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and re-appointment of Directors, and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive;

(e)  to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

(] to adopt nomination procedures, process and criteria to
select and recommend candidates for directorship;

(9  todo any such things to enable to the Nomination Committee
to discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the
Board; and
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(h)  to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that
may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the Memorandum of Association and the Articles
or imposed by legislation and the GEM Listing Rules;

(i) in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered into by
any members of the Group with its Director or proposed Director,
which require the prior approval of the shareholders of the
Company at general meeting, to review and provide
recommendations to the Shareholders of the Company (other than
Shareholders who are Directors with a material interest in the
relevant service contracts and their respective associates) as to
whether the terms of the service contracts are fair and reasonable
and whether such service contracts are in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole, and to advise
Shareholders on how to vote;

(iv)  to review the policy concerning diversity of the Board and the
measurable objectives for implementing such policy from time to
time adopted by the Board, and to review the progress on
achieving these objectives; and

(v)  to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

Major accomplishments in 2024 comprised the recommendation to the
Board the appointment of Mr. Lin Shixing on 22 December 2023, Mr. Ke
Tianxiong on 22 January 2024, Mr. Wang Yicheng on 26 January 2024,
Mr. Yang Chuan and Ms. Zhang Yushan on 12 April 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions which includes:

(i) developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v)  reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the CG Report.
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Major accomplishments in 2024 comprised the following:

(i) evaluated the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and made appropriate amendments;

(ii) arranged the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; and

(i) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the
external auditor McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited and its
network firm to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are as
follows:

R2024 FERMEZSIHEE NISIAE :

) FIEAEEZOEE
&5

ABERRESR  WIEHEE

(i) ZHEERERERASNENIIFERXER

K

(i) WA ARRETEEER
ERE RHY R o

SRINBRREREE

BE R £
ﬁ§2m4¢3ﬂ315¢ﬁ¥5v%%ﬁéﬁm%%(%%)
ST ERMAR AR R EMEEKERAEBIRESN
%ﬁ&;k%m&%%ﬁﬁw :

Services rendered HK$
REH RS BT
Audit services EIZRS
— Audit the consolidated financial statements of the — ERAEEEHE2024F3A31HIEFE

Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 ZEBMBHRE 600,000
Non-audit services HEZRTE 70,000
Non-audit services include review of quarterly and FEERELEENAEETEN

interim financial information of the Group R HRBT S B R

The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2024 were audited by B ZE2024F3A31BLFEZHEACERE (B

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited whose term of office will
expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that McMillan Woods (Hong
Kong) CPA Limited be re-appointed as the auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the
Group’s financial statements to give a true and fair view. The
responsibilities of auditor in respect of the financial statements are set out
in the report of the auditor forming part of this Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group emphasises the importance of a sound internal control system
which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures.
The Group’s system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfilment
of the business objectives. The internal control system is reviewed on an
ongoing basis by the Board in order to make it practical and effective in
providing reasonable assurance in relation to protection of material assets
and Shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, McMillan
Woods Corporate Service Limited has reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and has provided written reports to
the Audit Committee.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess and manage different types of risks. At the first line of
defence, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risk associated with each business or transaction. The
management, as the second line of defence, defines rule sets and
models, provide technical support, develops new system and oversees
portfolio management. It ensures risks are within acceptable range and
that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence,
McMillan Woods Corporate Service Limited assists the Audit Committee
to review the first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and management
of risks associated with its business activities through ongoing
assessment of a risk register, by considering the likelihood and impact of
each identified risk. The Group has implemented an effective control
system which includes a defined management structure with limits of
authority, a sound management system and periodic review of the
Group’s performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

The Group regards periodic review of internal control system as an
important part of the Board’s oversight function. The Group has not set
up an internal audit function, however, the Group has engaged an
external consultant, McMillan Woods Corporate Service Limited, to
conduct review on the internal control system of the Group. The review
shall be conducted once every year. During the year ended 31 March
2023, a review has been conducted and the Directors considered the
internal control system of the Group to be effective and adequate.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 March 2024, covering the material
financial, operational and compliance controls, which are considered
effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy of resources,

qualifications and experience, training and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions on an annual basis.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board has
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in
light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, as
opposed to diverting resources to establish a separate internal audit
department, it would be more cost effective to appoint external
independent professionals to perform independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will continue to review at
least annually the need for an internal audit department.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and
significant event that may impact the price of the shares of the Company
or their trading volume and decides whether the relevant information is
considered inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon as
reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 17.10 and 17.11 of the GEM
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). The executive Directors have responsibility for approving
certain announcements and/or circulars to be issued by the Company
under powers delegated by the Board from time to time.

The Company has put in place procedures on handling and dissemination
of inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place
any person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the
market to price the listed securities of the Company with the latest
available information. The Company has appropriate internal control and
reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside information.
Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be conducted
by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company Secretary was Mr.
Chou Chiu Ho.

Details of backgrounds and qualification of the Company Secretary are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

A written record had been received by the Company from Mr. Chou Chiu
Ho confirming that he took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 March 2024. The Company is of the
view that Mr. Chou has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In order to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial
issue, including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting.

The following procedures for Shareholders of the Company to convene
an extraordinary general meeting are subject to the Articles, and the
applicable legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules:

(i) any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
to require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles; and

(i) if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Apart from sending email to ir@primeintelligence.com.hk, Shareholders
may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them
to the headquarter and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Unit A, 6/F, TLP132, Nos. 132-134 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai
Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, by post or by fax to (852) 2991
1110, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy, a summary of which is
disclosed as below.

Any amount of dividends of the Company will be at the discretion of the
Directors and will depend on, among other things, the Company’s trading
results, cash flows and financial condition as well as operating and capital
requirements. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of
dividends will be subject to the Company’s constitutional documents and
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, including the approval of Shareholders.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

Pursuant to the Articles, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
by means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Company did not amend its memorandum and articles of association
during the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities during the year.

The analysis of geographical locations of the Group for the year is set out
in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year and analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators and
prospects of the Group’s business are provided in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 6 and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 7 to 14 of the annual report. The discussion forms
part of this Director’s report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Details of segment reporting are set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the state
of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 167.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity” and note 33 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31 March 2024
was approximately HK$6.3 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) when the Directors’ report prepared by the Directors is
approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles and association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 168 of the annual report.
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PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Yicheng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 26 January 2024 and
re-designated on 13 May 2024)

Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline

Mr. Mui Pak Kuen (Resigned on 30 November 2023)

Mr. Lin Shixing (Appointed on 22 December 2023)

Ms. Zhang Yushan (Appointed on 12 April 2024)

Mr. Hui Cho Lung (Resigned on 31 May 2024)

Non-executive Director

Ms. Leung Wai Hing, Ella (Resigned on 31 December 2023)
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph (Resigned on 15 January 2024)

Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (Re-designated on 13 May 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Billy

Mr. Wong Ching Wan

Mr. Ke Tianxiong (Appointed on 22 January 2024)

Mr. Poon Wai Hung Richard (Resigned on 15 February 2024)
Mr. Yang Chuan (Appointed on 12 April 2024)

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN THE FORTHCOMING
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with the Article 108 of the Articles, Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai,
Tony, Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline, Mr. Wong Ching Wan, Mr. Wang
Yicheng, Mr. Lin Shixing, Ms. Zhang Yushan, Mr. Ke Tianxiong and Mr.
Yang Chuan, shall retire from office as Directors by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony, Ms. Yuen
Mei Ling, Pauline, Mr. Wong Ching Wan, Mr. Wang Yicheng, Mr. Lin
Shixing, Ms. Zhang Yushan, Mr. Ke Tianxiong and Mr. Yang Chuan have
agreed to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Ms. Pauline Yuen has entered into a service agreement with our Company
for an initial term of three years with effect from the date of Listing and
such service agreements have been renewed for another year. Mr. Lin
has entered into service agreement with our Company for an initial term
of three years with effect from the 22 December 2023. Mr. Wang has
entered into service agreement with our Company for an initial term of
three years with effect from the 26 January 2024. Ms. Zhang has entered
into service agreement with our Company for an initial term of three years
with effect from the 12 April 2024. All of the said service agreements will
be renewable from time to time thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Tony Yuen was re-designated as an non-executive Director has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years with effect from the 13 May 2024. All of the said letter of
appointment or service agreement has been or will be renewed from time
to time thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ prior
notice in writing.

Mr. Chung Billy has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the date of
Listing and such letters of appointment have been renewed for another
year. Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of appointment for an initial term
of three years with effect from 17 June 2022. Mr. Ke has entered into a
letter of appointment for an initial term of three years with effect from 22
January 2024. Mr. Yang has entered into a letter of appointment for an
initial term of three years with effect from 12 April 2024. All of the said
letters of appointment will be renewable from time to time thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS
THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save for disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 15 to 21 of the annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

T EE AR AR / 32024

EEREFXQAXRBEBENEARS - ZHK
BRFEENERER

Bir e BTSRRI RE SO PRI BE B SN - M EF R F MR
B ARFIMEB ARSI ER T EAREXBAREME
ZERSHBEREEARENEARS  ZRHRAH -

EENSREEERBE
EREERARESRERENEEFBHNFRES
E21H -

A BR
AEEEBZHBRAFTHZEERBERFT 2RI -
B BE TIHIRE

EECHFMETMER RS EARAZEERM - BA

KR RANETHGHBTEE -

EERIBREHA LT ZHM

EERALBBFALZMSHBERNG 2 UHAREN

IR

BB

A S 2RI Bl R & M RN 16
69



Directors’ Report

EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

EERBRETRAEREAQAIE[EEEE
MR - HEROREEENESRAR

MR2024FE3A31 B ARABEERFETRAERA
AR E AR AE (F & R EH R EEKRGIEXVER)
B - B D RERER  BEBRBEIHFRPEK
BPIEEXVEET7 RESHBAME AR B MR TR
EAKR (BERSREES RPEENE BIE R A
PR ERENERRAR) RIRBFHFRAEEHE
352 BRBEZ G T E M AR RIAR - 3
RIEGEM LR AIEE5.46 = 5.67 IF A& AN A 7) M B
RETERRARIT ¢

Long positions 3=}
Ordinary shares of the Company KR FEBAR
Number Percentage of the
of shares Company’s issued
Name Capacity and nature of interest (note 1) share capital
RHEE ERRARE BT
®E SO RESNE (Ktat 1) BRAEAzEDE
Mr. Hui Cho Lung Beneficial owner 37,400,000 (L) 4.68%

FFERESR & ERBEEA
Note:
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the

share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company or their associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which each of them has taken or deemed to be taken under the
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered into the register referred to therein; or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 and 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang Yicheng is holding 136,230,000

Shares (long position), representing approximately 17.03% of the
Company'’s issued share capital, as a beneficial owner.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the Company had, or
were deemed to have, interests or short position in the shares or
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company:

Long positions
Ordinary shares of the Company

FERREEMALIREDTRG REER D
MERERRE

M2024E3 AB1H - BEEZMAME - THALT (LI E
FRAARRAEEITERAB) KRG SRS P #A
WRABRBIREES M EGEMEXVIBE2 3D EME
NARARARFENESIAR  HALHENARFIR
EEFH M AIEEPIE 336 IRATFE S fiEm ik R
N EESKHEEEAMFEANRERER T ERERRR
FRR R A S FIREME MR ANEE 5% 3 A i

Number
of shares

Percentage of the
Company’s issued

Name Capacity and nature of interest (note 1) share capital
RGHEHE HAEAATERIT
HE LB SO RERME (Fiat1) REZBZHE
Mr. Yao Han (“Mr. Yao”) (hote 2) Beneficial owner 131,785,000 (L) 16.47%
wkER s ([ Bk %) (Kt 2) BEmEA A
Ms. Jian Yanmei (“Ms. Jian”) (note 2) Interest of spouse 131,785,000 (L) 16.47%
Bt (B ) (Maz2) it dan
Super Arena Limited Beneficial owner 118,000,000 (L) 14.75%
(“Super Arena”) (note 3)
Super Arena Limited EmlAA
(TSuper Arena ) (#17+3)
Mr. Kor Sing Mung Michael (“Mr. Kor”) (note 3)  Interest of controlled corporation 118,000,000 (L) 14.75%

Kor Sing Mung Michael 4t 4 ([ Kor %4 |) SRHRERER

(Btax3)
Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the
share capital of the Company.

2. Ms. Jian is Mr. Yao’s spouse and is therefore deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by Mr. Yao under the SFO.

3. On 21 December 2023, Super Arena, which originally held 10,000,000
Shares, entered into a sale and purchase agreement to purchase
108,000,000 Shares from Delighting View Global Limited. Completion of the
sale and purchase took place on 26 January 2024. As at 31 March 2024,
Mr. Kor was beneficially interested in 100% of the shares of Super Arena
and was deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Super Arena
under the SFO.
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Fifet -
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2. ELRIEEZERE  SREEFMBEERIIRER
NIk EFENMMERND T HEA RS

3. 2023412 4218+ R % ¥ H10,000,000/% & 15 2
Super Arenai] 32 B & 1% #% + A Delighting View Global
Limited & & 108,000,000 8% % 1 - B & 7202441 A
268 TR > MN2024F3A31B Korse A B2 A
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18 A% B Super Arenat5 B M FT A R H #EZ ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors are not
aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief executive of
the Company who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or
who is directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or options in respect
of such share capital.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang Zhao Hui (“Mr. Wang ZH")
purchased 100% shares in Super Arena from Mr. Kor on 9 May 2024.
Therefore, Super Arena is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Wang ZH
and Mr. Wang ZH is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Super Arena under the SFO. As a result, Mr. Wang ZH has become a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company or any Associated Corporations” and
“Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, and save for the
reorganisation and the capitalisation issue as explained in the Prospectus,
at no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries or its parent company a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors and chief executives (including their respective
spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any of its associated corporation.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
by the then Shareholders on 18 January 2018 for the primary purpose is
to attract, retain and motivate talented participants, to strive for future
developments and expansion of the Group. Eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include any employees, any executives,
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors),
advisors, consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Share Option Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
was adopted, after which no further share options will be granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall in all other respects remain
in full force and effect and share options which are granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue. The principal terms of which were
summarised in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus. No share option has been granted under
the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing shares or (ii)
requires the Company to enter into any agreement that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

% S 1 #9165 =

BRid £ [BEARAERT &I | —ERFT I R MO SR B ARAE AT &40 -
RNRABREE2024F3A31 BIEFELET IR E
RAFAE () 15 3 T BE B BN A BB A TR 19 2k (if) ESR AR A A
BT Al 3R AT AEE B AR A B BT TP OB e ik

BEROIEEE 2ZH

PSR AT R+ 7R 2% ) ol B AR B 8 22 ) s [B) 3R Y/
AABETLEMRZH  REESAEBRBARRK
EAATEL 1 [ B8 2 B) 2 A A Bk (4 B 1 JE U2

EEEN
FA - ARFMERBENEMBERLYEHFHELER
TBI(ERI AT B EMAH]

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FTEEFRMLER
Sales Purchases
HE 23
The largest customer BAEP 10.9% N/AT 8 A
Five largest customers in aggregate AREF#HET 36.0% N/A-TE
The largest supplier SABER N/A 73 A 43.5%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate ARt rER st N/A 36 A 79.4%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, to the best of knowledge of the
Directors, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact
on the businesses and operations of the Group.
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DISCLOSURES UNDER RULES 17.22 TO 17.24 OF THE
GEM LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no circumstances which would give
rise to a disclosure obligation under Rules 17.22 to 17.24 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND KEY RELATIONSHIP
WITH EMPLOYEES

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and key relationship
with employees is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” from pages 22 to 41 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the factors
as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 6 January 2022, SE Engineering, being an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement (as tenant)
with Brilliant Capital Resources Limited (as landlord) (“Brilliant Capital”)
for the term from 6 January 2022 to 5 January 2023 (and further
extended to 5 January 2024 upon renewal on 6 January 2023) at a rent
of HK$150,000 per calendar month. The premise has been used by the
Group as a workshop. Brilliant Capital was owned as to approximately
42.5%, 42.5% and 15.0% by Mr. Yuen Jackson Kwok Leung (“Mr.
Jackson Yuen”), Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen respectively.
Since Mr. Tony Yuen, Ms. Pauline Yuen and Mr. Jackson Yuen are “family
members” as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and they
together owned over 50% of the total issued share capital of Brilliant
Capital, Briliant Capital is an associate of Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline
Yuen pursuant to Rule 20.10(2)(b) of the GEM Listing Rules. Therefore,
the entering into a tenancy agreement by SE Engineering (as tenant) with
Brilliant Capital (as landlord) constitutes a continuing connected
transaction.

Details of the above tenancy agreement of the Group are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders and their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) as at 31 March 2024 had any interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group or any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr. Tony Yuen, Ms. Pauline Yuen and Delighting View (collectively
the “Covenantors” or each, a “Covenantor”), being the then Controlling
Shareholders, has entered into the deed of non-competition (the “Deed
of Non-competition”) pursuant to which each of the Covenantors has,
among other things, irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken with the
Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries), on a joint and
several basis, that at any time during the period commencing on the date
of Listing and expiring on the earlier of (i) the date upon which the Shares
cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange; or (i) the date upon which the
Covenantors and their close associates cease to own 30% or more of the
then issued share capital of the Company directly or indirectly, such
Covenantor shall not, and shall procure that neither their respective close
associates nor companies controlled by the Covenantors (other than the
members of the Group) will (i) directly or indirectly, be interested in or
involved in or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each
case whether as a director or shareholder (other than being a director or
shareholder of any member of the Group)) in any form of business,
including but not limited to any joint venture, alliance, cooperation,
partnership which competes or is likely to compete directly or indirectly
with the Group’s business in any area in which the Group carries or may
carry on business (the “Restricted Activity”) from time to time; nor
provide support in any form to persons other than the members of the
Group to engage in business that constitutes or may constitute direct or
indirect competition with the businesses that the Group is currently and
from time to time carrying on; (ii) solicit any existing employee of the
Group for employment by him/her/it or his/her/its close associates or
companies controlled by him/her/it; and (i) without the consent of the
Company, make use of any information pertaining to the business of the
Group which may have come to his/her/its knowledge for any purpose of
engaging, investing or participating in any Restricted Activity. Such non-
competition undertaking does not apply to holding shares of a company
which conducts or is engaged in any Restricted Activity provided that,
such shares are listed on a recognised stock exchange and: (a) the total
number of the shares held by the Covenantors and/or their respective
close associates (in aggregate) does not amount to more than 5% of the
issued shares of such company; and (b) the Covenantors and/or their
respective close associates are not entitled to appoint a majority of the
directors or management of that company. Details of the Deed of Non-
competition have been disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with
the Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.
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As Delighting View Global Limited, Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen
ceased to be the Controlling Shareholders from 30 June 2021, the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition expired on the same
date.

On 30 November 2015, Mr. Jackson Yuen has also entered into a deed
of non-competition with the Company, pursuant to which Mr. Jackson
Yuen has made similar undertakings to the Company as those given by
the Controlling Shareholders under the Deed of Non-competition.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on pages 42 to
64 of this annual report.

DISPOSAL OF SHARES BY SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER
On 19 April 2023, Delighting View Global Limited and Primary Group
International Limited entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the
sale of 206,000,000 shares of the Company. Completion of sale and
purchase of 66,000,000 and 32,000,000 shares took place on 12 May
20283 and 30 June 2023 respectively. On 21 December 2023, Delighting
View Global Limited and Super Arena Limited entered into a sale and
purchase agreement for the sale of 108,000,000 shares of the Company.
Completion of the sale and purchase look place on 26 January 2024. As
at the date of this report, Delighting View Global Limited ceased to be a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

PROPOSED CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

The Board proposes to change the dual foreign name in Chinese of the
Company from “fEFERIFEBEHR AR to EZEFRBEBEBR AR
The proposed Change of company name is conditional upon the following
conditions having been satisfied: (i) the passing of a special resolution
approving the proposed change of company name by the shareholders of
the Company at an extraordinary general meeting to be convened and
held by the Company; and (i) the approval being granted by the Registrar
of Companies in the Cayman Islands for the proposed change of
company name. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
15 March 2024 for details of the proposed change of company name.

76

i 7 Delighting View Global Limited ~ Bt %t 4 K Bt & + &
202146 A 30 HAETHBEMAIERARE - BN HRFERIEIE
TRIEGERR B EE -

2015 11 A30H » BrB R S £ IREE AR RIRT LTk
FRE - B BB R AR AR R ST AR
RIEA TR IR A AR AGE o

ERABERE
REARRAFABSZEMRBERAM  RARSEA
H KRR E2MEHTRATHRDE 25% HARALHE

FTERRHERS

20234 4 A 19 H - Delighting View Global Limited £
Primary Group International Limited 5] 32 B & 5% © A H
£ 7K A 7]206,000,0000% % 17 - & & 66,000,000 f& &
32,000,000 % f% {7 7 5] A 20234 5 A 12 B K 2023F 6
A30H 5 Ak 72023412 A21H - Delighting View
Global Limited &2 Super Arena Limited 5137 B & ##5:% + H
& ZN/2 7 108,000,000 & i {5 o EEH 2024 F 1 A 26 H
SERK ° AN ER4S B B - Delighting View Global Limited 2
THAARNTNEERR o

BRERLTEE
EXSREBARRPXEEI XL EA [HERRE
BAERAR ] Ees DEAMBREBRERQA ]« #%
BRI BRBFATRIFERE - HAMEE : ()ARE
BRERAARBEBRLRITZEIREFRAE L BB
HERAERARBHZBIRER  R()FHSFESRF
iR EREE AR AT - AEEEENARR
W25 - F2HARE BEHR2024F3 150 Z A -

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2024



Directors’ Report

ESEHE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 14 June 2024, the Group entered into a strategic cooperation
framework agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation Framework
Agreement”) with Guizhou Little Butterfly Cultural Tourism Industry
Development Co. Ltd.* (EM /MBI XL IREEEXZERE AR A F)
(“Guizhou Little Butterfly Cultural”), a company established under the
laws of the People’s Republic of China which mainly operates the
business of entrusted operation and management of tourist attractions.
Pursuant to Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement, the Company
and Guizhou Little Butterfly Cultural will cooperate on various matters
including but not limited to joint development of intellectual property rights
in digital cultural tourism and exploration of potential opportunities through
the operation of e-commerce platforms or other feasible approaches. The
Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement shall be effective for a term
of one year. Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 14 June 2024.

AUDITOR

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited has been appointed as the
auditor of the Company following the resignation of World Link CPA
Limited due to its reorganisation under which the audit engagement
director and the audit engagement team joined another professional
accounting firm with effect from 10 February 2020 and McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited was appointed to fill the casual vacancy.

A resolution to re-appoint McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited as

auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wang Yicheng
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR &

M McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

PRIME INTELLIGENCE SOLUTIONS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Prime
Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 167, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$15,627,000 during the year ended 31
March 2024. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank and cash balances
amounted to approximately HK$3,802,000 whilst the liabilities expected
to be settled within the next 12 months amounted to approximately
HK$12,538,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter. Notwithstanding the above, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is
dependent upon the outcomes of the Group to attain profitable and
positive cash flows from operations as detailed in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BN S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
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opinion on these matters. We have determined (i) allowance for
inventories; and (ii) impairment of trade receivables to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

Key Audit Matter
BREREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEEERPNAEERREREE

)
U
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Allowance for inventories

FEARE

Refer to material accounting policy information in note 4(g),
critical judgement and estimates in note 5(b(ii)) and its
relevant disclosures in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRI IREN T 4(0) EXEFBEEZF - I 71 5(b(i) E
BEHEF R AGSH A R P 51 20 A9 16 BT 1 55 E 18 -

The Group had inventories with net carrying amount of
approximately HK$21,334,000 as at 31 March 2024 (after
related allowance of approximately HK$5,506,000 provided
as at 31 March 2024).

20243 A31H » ESREEAREIFEL 21,334,000 T
BT E (FEHIBR A 2024 £ 3 A 31 B EHEAIABRI BB ) 5,506,000
HBITI&) ©

The Group operates in an industry where technological
development may significantly affect the valuation of
inventories as its products would become slow-moving or
outdated when products with new technology emerge.

YIS E’i EREAETENNED  MRRRSUTFRMHEE
ERERE  EFNREREL  HERSHHEBBE -

The estimation of the allowance for inventories requires
management to make judgements based on these
inventories’ ages, obsolescence, future sales plan, estimated
net selling prices as well as inventory disposal plans. Actual
sales are likely to be different from those estimated or
forecast since anticipated events sometimes do not occur as
expected and unforeseen events may arise, and their impact
on estimates and forecasts may be material.
ERERAENZEFTENRR RERE - RREEE
e FEEUREEHEAEEL HE - UEHAZEEE
R - BRIHERFTALEZF AT HIEAAR - ThER
i‘Eﬁ%#ﬁH%T\Zzuﬁﬁﬁﬂ%*i&TA BHETERT AN EM
MmESE RN TERIEBERX -

al/ F£$%2024

Our procedure in relation to net realisable value determination
as well as allowance assessment of inventories carried out by
the management included:

SEHBBEEERREMNZ
ﬁﬁﬂir BIE

FIFEETE AR ERET

— Reviewing the ageing of inventory;
- BERGFERK:

— ldentifying and assessing aged and obsolete items of
inventory while attending the physical inventory Count

— Z2HEEBEREFESREE  BRINEZERRER
S

— Assessing the Group’s internal control over the
inventory provision in particular the Group’s policy on
allowance for slow-moving and outdated inventories;

—  FHh EREUGEREONIES - LHE 8%
EEE N REF SO EBECR

—  Assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness of
the methodologies adopted by the management in
determining the net realisable value for those slow-
moving and outdated items of inventory; and

— AAEREEECTZSRAHEIREFEEB EREE
R EmAEEREEE &

—  Reviewing the subsequent sales to corroborate the
assumptions used by the management.
— BREBHEUSETEREGAOMRE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BREREE EEEERTNNEEREEXER

(ll) Impairment of trade receivables

() EZERKERRE
Refer to material accounting policy information in note 4(v),
critical judgement and estimates in note 5(b(iii), financial risk
management in note 6(b) and its relevant disclosures in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements.
BARGGE EMEZN G 4v) EX SR AR - W& 5(bi) F
SEHET AL ET ~ BT 5L 6(b) BI 75 B [ B HE LA R P 51 21 B 6 B 17 52
FIH -
During the course of business, the Group would grant credit  Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
terms to its customers ranged between 30 to 90 days. The assessment of trade receivables included:
Group would perform periodic assessment on the impairment BZ AR E 5 B WFUEREF ENBXIEFEE ¢
of trade receivables by basing on information including credit
risk characteristics of each customer, historical ageing and —  Evaluating the design, implementation and operating
settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected effectiveness of key internal controls over credit
timing and amount of recovering outstanding balances, and control, debt collection and estimate of ECL;
on-going trading relationships with the relevant customers —  FHE{EEES - WEEEEEHEEBEGTN@ER
and forward-looking information that may impact its BRI HI AR ET ~ B e S B YRR AR
customers’ abilities to repay the outstanding trade
receivables in order to estimate the expected credit losses —  Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
(“ECL”) for the impairment assessment. models by examining the model input used by
REBBIEHR BEEESRNHEFPKETI0ZE0HMEE management to form such judgements, including
B BSXEERESEFNEERREE  BEERREEHE testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
F8E - HEAE MR - TEERULE R AR AR AR R & 78 A evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
REEAREPHBEX ZBAEEAEEERPEENRER appropriately adjusted based on current economic
B RWFERNE DOATEEEREER B8 FHREFIED conditions variables and assumptions used in each of
EETTEERHE  IMEEDRE AN TESEE S ((BEE the economic scenarios and their probability weightings
BEE]) - and assessing whether there was an indication of

management bias when recognising loss allowances;
Due to impairment of trade receivables under the ECL model —  Ei@%EE 1R B A FME L H8RE 2 & 018 e A BUERT
involved the use of significant management judgements and iy EXEBEEHEEBBEEANGEE EHaEA
estimates, we considered this as a key audit matter. HABTBOBBEOEREY FHBTEERRERE
ERTEHEEEEEX THNE SRR BERES RERE EAIRBERAN AT EREZRSLBEER TAANRE
RNEBEHE LG MESRR/UDRAREZEE - RE#MELEETEZHE MRS ENRETR
ERENERBBEREREARR

— Re-performing the calculations in the ECL model;

— EIETEEEEEEERNE

— Inspecting settlements after the financial year end
relating to the trade receivables as at 31 March 2024;
and

— RUMERFEAREBREN2024F3AIENESHE
WHIERANEEER &

—  Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures made
in the consolidated financial statements in relation to
the Group’s credit risk exposure.

— EENTEHRGAMBRETAELER BH%£EE
ERREOEEERNRENE

80 Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2024



Independent Auditor’s Report
B BN S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the Company’s
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

T EE AR AR / 32024
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chi Kong

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO7348

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEEEkEMZEIRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

2024 2023
2024 4 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BiaE F#&T FHT
Revenue g & 8 54,372 43,151
Cost of sales and services rendered SHE R D IRHREA AR (29,178) (30,143)
Gross profit ER 25,194 13,008
Other income and other gains/(losses), net  H U A R HE AU~
(F518) %48 9 3,008 1,497
Selling and distribution costs FHE Ko Ak A (10,100) (9,639)
Administrative and other operating expenses 1T}z B fh 48 & F 2 (33,386) (28,675)
Impairment loss of trade receivables B S NI RERBE (138) (96)
Loss from operation REKE ZEE (15,422) (23,905)
Finance costs BT RN 10 (234) (119)
Loss before tax BRBIATES 18 11 (15,656) (24,024
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisRiiEe, (Fx) 12 29 (132
Loss for the year attributable to AT EREE AEMN
equity owners of the Company FAER (15,627) (24,156)
Other comprehensive income after tax: BRBIEHM 2 E K :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit TeEH S EE B oIHE -
or loss:
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit REBARKEFTEIZ
pension plans EIETEWE 121 -
Items that may be reclassified to profit AJREEM D Bm o B -
orloss:
Exchange differences on translating HERINETSRS VBN =58
foreign operations (345) (406)
Release of foreign currency translation HEMB QA AR RRINE e
reserve on disposal of a subsidiary 1 40 -
(305) (4086)
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEKE - HIRBE
for the year, net of tax (184) (406)
Total comprehensive income for AAFERBEEAEGEFEAZA
the year attributable to Wz A EE
equity owners of the Company (15,811) (24,562)
Loss per share (HK cents) FRER GB)
— Basic and diluted — EARREE 15 (1.95) (3.02)
MR £ EE IR A F / 152024 85



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B R R

At 31 March 2024
20243 431 H

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 FF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt TET FHET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MRS 17 426 556
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 - -
Intangible assets B AE 19 - -
426 556
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 78 20 21,334 22,535
Trade receivables 2 5 e IE 21 16,624 10,580
Other receivables, prepayments HipfeURIa - R RERES
and deposits 22 2,791 3,421
Tax recoverable AU [E R IR 213 69
Bank and cash balances RITRIB % 23 3,802 17,868
44,764 54,473
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables =) ANE e 24 4,730 2,384
Other payables and accrued expenses HihER B R EETER 25 4,307 5,138
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 3,501 2,075
Contract liabilities X ON=Kr- 27 10,885 7,938
23,423 17,535
Net current assets REEERE 21,341 36,938
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBER 21,767 37,494
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 1,454 1,977
Contract liabilities BREE 27 1,215 921
Retirement benefit obligations BRAREAED 28 313 -
2,982 2,898
NET ASSETS EEFE 18,785 34,596
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARR R

At 31 March 2024
720243 431 H

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 FF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FHET FHET

Capital and reserves BEARRHE
Share capital RE A 31 8,000 8,000
Reserves s 33(a) 10,785 26,596
TOTAL EQUITY R 18,785 34,596

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June #2024 4 6 A 28 B4& & =it fe MR T3 -

2024.
Wang Yicheng Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline
B Brxi

T EE AR AR / 32024
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Consolidajted Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

Foreign
currency
Share Share Merger Legal  translation Accumulated Total Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses reserve equity
B BReEE Al AERE HMEARRE 2itER BRE mEs
(note 33(c)(i)  (note 33(c)fii)  (note 33(c)fii))  (note 33(c)(iv))
(£33 (W33 (W33 (AE33C)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT TAT TAT TAL TAT TR TAT TAT
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 1R 8,000 51,682 17,079 12 (10) (17,605) 51,158 59,158
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (24,156) (24,156) (24,156)
Other comprehensive income Hih2ERE - - - - (406) - (406) (406)
Total comprehensive income FREANREE
for the year - - - - (406) (24,156) (24,562) (04,562)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 120233 A 31 H
202354 18 8,000 51,682 17,079 12 (416) (41,761) 26,59 34,59
Loss for the year ERER = = = = = (15,627) (15,627) (15,627)
Other comprehensive income Hih2ERE - - - - (305) 121 (184) (184)
Total comprehensive income ER2AHEAE
for the year - - - - (305) (15,506) (15,811) (15,811)
At 31 March 2024 R202453531R 8,000 51,682 17,079 12 (721) (57,267) 10,785 18,785
88 Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2024




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HiaE FHT FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRI E R (15,656) (24,024)
Adjustments for: BT EBEL AR
Interest income FEWA (144) (82)
Depreciation of property, WME - BERRETE
plant and equipment 394 272
Depreciation of right-of-use assets REEENE 1,203 -
Finance costs IR D EN 234 119
Impairment loss of trade receivables B S RUGRIBRERE 138 96
Impairment loss on property, Y - BE MR ERERE
plant and equipment 258 742
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEEREREE 2,953 4,601
Allowance for inventories FEBE 272 1,884
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEM B AR (2,366) -
Gain on disposals of property, HEME  BEMREKRTS
plant and equipment (21) (35)
Operating loss before working HEESEYRIKEBHE
capital changes (12,735) (16,427)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERAL () 605 (3,004)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables 2 S EWRIE (35 m) m A (6,124) 649
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, Hip e UrsioE - FERFIER
prepayments and deposits BERA,(EM) 296 (1,008)
Increase in trade payables H 2 e FRIE R N 2,471 1,778
Increase in other payables HtENZRIERESER
and accrued expenses =0 3,915 1,158
Increase in contract liabilities ABHEEEN 3,251 1,190
Increase in retirement benefit obligations RRAEF 2 751 0 422 -
Cash used in operations KEFTARS (7,899) (15,664)
Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid)/refunded (B BREEHEFEH (115) 147
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE (222) (119)
Net cash used in operating activities G EEFTAIR S F 58 (8,236) (15,636)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB ¥ - = L& E (2,407) (1,570)
Net cash effect on disposal of a subsidiary HEMHB AT FIREFE (225) -
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME  BELREMSHE
plant and equipment 66 35
Interest received BUYF & 144 82
Net cash used in investing activities K& RS FE (2,422) (1,458)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Principal element of lease payments HENRAEID (3,243) (1,899)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBESEEYRDFEH
EQUIVALENTS (13,901) (18,988)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EREFH T E (165) (23)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FINRERRAEZEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 17,868 36,879
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERNRESRBLEEY
END OF YEAR 3,802 17,868
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH REeRBESEEYHNDN
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE R 23 3,802 17,868
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Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempt company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands on 16 October 2015. The address
of its registered office is P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort
Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of
its principal place of business is located at Unit A, 6/F, TLP132,
Nos. 132-134 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 14
February 2018 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are sales of biometrics identification
devices and other devices and accessories and provision of
auxiliary and other services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“‘HKASSs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622). Material accounting policy information adopted by the
Group are discussed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 below provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$15,627,000 and net cash outflow
from operating activities of approximately HK$8,236,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s
bank and cash balances amounted to approximately HK$3,802,000
whilst the liabilities expected to be settled within the next 12 months
amounted approximately HK$12,538,000. In preparing these
consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the impact of current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group.

T EE AR AR / 32024
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S it = B b ik & P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House,
75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands o F 3 2 48 3 3t Bh 0 st bE 7 7O BB T R 2K
TEAGEHEE 132-134 5 TLP132 /N IEA R © A A A
BRIDEB2018F2 A 14 BN EBHERHME
PRAF ([BRAT))GEM Em ([ Ew]) -

RRABR—EREERQF - ENB AR E
EBABEEEMREBENEEREMEE R
o ARARHALE R AR -

mAERE

WERAMBRIDBREBEEEMBRELR (&
BUBHEER ] (FEestog ([FEEFM
DEDEBZEEMAEBYHREEL - B
SRR EREER ) RREZAR) LE
BARNERAGEE - I FHE W BRERIN
BEBRAGEME S LA A ([GEM LR Al 1)
BB BRI XX BB R RGN (622 %) B3
BARE - ARBERMANERSFTEREHRTX

50 -

FEGIHMAGERMGE T RGBT Z2EE
BB mELER  URAEEZ RSt HEER
R AT PR o 112 I A e 2R R P SI B
BRAKEREA BT ST REAER S
REHORUFEEPBHRRARKR - AEEH
T PHEES »

HZE2024F 331 HILFE - AEEEAARRA
A A FE( 1B 4915,627,000 7% Tt M AS &R EH IR
& 7 HF 8 £98,236,000 78 7T © 742024 4F 3 A 31
H @ RNEBE®RTRIE S A4 58,802,000%
L MBEEHRARI2EARNENNEBENA
12,538,000 7T « MR B2 ERE VB HRER -
AARERCFHEBALE B AT RIBHR R
FETHTE -

91



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ER AR FEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

2,

92

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern (continued)

The validity of the Group to operate as going concern is dependent
upon the outcomes of the Group to attain profitable and positive
cash flows from operations by exploiting business development
and implementing effective cost control measures, at a level
sufficient to finance the working capital requirements of the Group.

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and having taken
into account the above measures, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group will be able to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of the
business. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared on a going concern basis.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April
2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates
Deferred tax related to
assets and liabilities
arising from a single

transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position and performance for
the current and prior year and/or the disclosures set out in
the consolidated financial statements.

mBLE%E ()

AR (F)
AEBRETBMSBEREETORNAEEE BN A
BRI R E A B AE S e R 2 bW
RAEELEECHFEZNKFTERBESENA
Ea EH 2 mE R AR o

REAEENRSTETA - 5t R LlEBE
ARREERREAEEBRENE —REBBIED
BREEWRITEEREG - Bt - AEBEER
EUBHRRAFELERERRER -

R RG] B BB REER

(a) ERFIRLETEBMEREER
AEECHEARAEASMAZEGBEY
AT BBV EREENAEITAER - ZEE
FIARRR2023F 4 A1 B 2 BN FE
HARSR B Ak - AR BIAR A BT RS HRE -

FEGERNER  SIRERE
LEBBBRE
EREBRS
F258 (BATA)

BREGEAESE EREHNES
(CHEN)

ER g
F125 (BFTA)

HE-QHELNEE
M& ERREMELEHE

EEg
F125 (BFTA)

BRFIERE — %1
18538 8 (International
Tax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules)

BREMBEREEL  RBEL
EATH
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

(b)

R REERRA

Change in Accounting Policy

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the
HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong
The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory
MPF contributions to the trustee who administers the assets
held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each
individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s
accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR
gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the
use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance payment
and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take
effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition,
under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the
date of termination of employment) is used to calculate the
portion of LSP in respect of the employment period before
the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for
the offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong. In light of this, the Group has implemented the
guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with the
LSP obligation retrospectively so as to provide more reliable
and more relevant information about the effects of the
offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

al/ F£$%2024
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B RS ER AR FEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. HMHIRKBEEBHBHMEED (EF)
(continued)

(¢) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (c) CEEMEERERVIHITREBITEE
effective AR 2R
The Group has not early applied any new and revised A& [ I FE 1R R e A R ] B R MR B 7R 2023
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective for FA4R1BFRBHIERERE B RERAFE]
the financial year beginning 1 April 2023. These new and REEFTBEBMBMEER - ZEFMFT R
revised HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant FASEI BB MR EER B A T g i
to the Group. REEHBBEMIER -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUT s 2%
BRI ST B AN
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2024
BB ERIE 1K (BTN AES BRI XRIERS 20241 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with covenants 1 January 2024
ERGTHERFE S (BT AR ERHNIERDAG 20241 A1H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a sales and leaseback 1 January 2024
BEMBHEEE 165 (BFTA) — ERELNWEEERE 2024% 1 A1H
Amendments to revised of Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (revised) presentation of 1 January 2024
financial statements-classification by borrower of a term loan that
contains a repayment on demand clause (“HK Int 5 (Revised)”)
EERBESH (BN MBRER (BTN M7 — ERAHSERERERERD 20241 A1H
EHERN DA ([EERBESH (BIEFD D
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier finance arrangements 1 January 2024
BAGTHERIFE 7 R BBV B REERE 798 (BRI 2) (L FE 5l & ZHE (Supplier finance 202441 A1H
arrangements)
Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
EBGETERZE 2155 (B3] ) — = 7] 33321 (Lack of Exchangeability) 202541 A1H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or contribution of To be determined
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture by the HKICPA
BAEMBEMELERE 109 BB SFHERIE 285 (BETA) R EE BAR & AR HHRESSTMAEET
BENEZENEELESEE
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of 7N B30 IE 5T 4 I S 5T AN R #ET £ B
what the impact of these amendments and new standards is M ERBABNTESRTE - 25NERA
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has BRI B 5T A R 35T BB R KA e 45
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a SRR EBERERTE -

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of

applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a

higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where

assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

A summary of the material accounting policy information applied in

the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set

out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting year as that of the Company.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until
the date when such control ceases.

T EE AR AR / 32024
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(@)

96

Consolidation (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary determined on the date
when control is lost; and (ii) the carrying amount of the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

All intragroup transactions, balances, unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b)

()

R REERRA

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investments. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwiill.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that
are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

al/ F£$%2024
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

98

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements (continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates for the
period (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

— Allresulting exchange differences are recognised
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of the
net investment in foreign entities are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to the consolidated profit or loss as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in the profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Biometric identification devices 20%
Motor vehicles 30%
Computer equipment 20%
Leasehold improvement 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The
gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(€

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be whether finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet
these criteria is expensed when incurred. With respect to
staff costs incurred directly attributable to solution service
income, it will be regarded as cost of sales and charged to
profit or loss of the Group accordingly.

Software development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products
not exceeding five years, commencing from the date when
the software are put into commercial production.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

R REERRA

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets, which for the Group are primarily office
premises. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the
lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the lease liability. After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the group entities, which do not have recent third-party
financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine
the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is
not originally provided for in the lease contract (“Lease
Modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis and
comprise all costs of purchase and, where applicable, cost of
conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale. When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in
the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised in the profit
or loss in the period of write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories
recognised as an increment in the amount of inventories and
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

0

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of
the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.

— Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by both
the collection of contractual cash flows and sale.
Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses (“ECL”), interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

—  FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

0

(k)

Financial assets (continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is
made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due. If
revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less allowance for credit loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

V)

(m)

(n)

(0)

()

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated statement of cash flow. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(p)

(@

Revenue recognition and other income (continued)
Revenue from the sale of biometric identification devices,
security products and other accessories is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered to the buyer’s specific location (delivery).
Under the Group’s standard contract terms, customers are
entitled to a one-year maintenance. At the point of sale, a
contract liability and corresponding adjustment to revenue is
recognised, representing the unfulfilled performance
obligation of the maintenance services. The contract liability
would be recognised as income on a straight-line basis over
the warranty period.

Revenue from provision of solution, installation and other
services are recognised when the relevant services are
rendered and delivered to customers.

Revenue from maintenance services are recognised on a
straight-basis over the term of the maintenance period.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

4,

110

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(q)
(i)

(i)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a ceiling of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offsetted
as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it is
measured on a net basis. The estimated amount of
future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

(s)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
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BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

4,

112

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(t)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(t)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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4,

114

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal
of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-
generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst
the other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent
increases in the recoverable amount caused by changes in
estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.
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B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

R REERRA

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL measured at
amortised cost such as trade receivables. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

116

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks
and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

4. EXSIHEHEER(H)

vy =HEEREGE
EEmBRREEE I
RGBT ANERERR B VT HERR
EERCBFEN AREEHERTARN
WE A LR BOMNEREZ SR T AR
FHEAAPHRAENNRR LR - RNEE
ETRER  SERAERAKRENEN
LRENER BE2ZBEKBRRLERAR
BTV EHNKASIE N MERERTEEE
e MAZENABELEERBRERE LR
BERWE  SRONED - BFEE - B
EEREMBURBMBEAEEEBA
FRSBITEMARRAR - AR ZEERAE
BEX2EBEBNERRBEALCEERD
RSN AR

AEmE  FEEERREE AV ER

ARBREFIE N EEBATER -

. ERTANIIMB(NE) XRAEBEE
PR ER SRR ER(L

. ARSRTANEERBMNINETS
IR EEE

. 1% 2RIEERER X NE
HIBRTANRE  YHRAEEBAD
EFERENERE T

. EBANKEEEER LANRE
B

. FRAMEREBANELSRTANE
EEBREAEIL N

o BERAEHOET  EERBITRS
EER ERBHERLEATHE
B - GHEHANEH B BE
T -

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ISR AR B AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

R REERRA

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

i) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no
past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

118

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

° it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’
gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any
additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future
by default date determined based on historical trend, the
Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs
of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for
assets for which simplified approach was used.
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BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

(x)  Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
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BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. FE®RHEREEM4E(E)
(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ZEMET RE BRRERER - B ETE
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in BT hEH B - SRt AEHEFT R Z R R - 3
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only ME T R B AN HARE KRR PR AR - RIRMEETHAR K
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the RIRHARIRER -

revision affects both current and future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (@) FERETBERNEEYE
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those LNTRAAABEENEARNEEBSTBR
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the AR AR A B GR FI T (R B 48 Rl Et
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s BHE - BT - MREAEEEE TS
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect MERPEANSHEARERNTE -
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
Going concern basis o A8 40 A
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared I e A BTSSR R T IRIS B A R HL R s
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon H AR A AR AR B IR B AR B
the financial support of the controlling shareholder at a level YERUBNAEBHNLELESE R - 2B
sufficient to finance the working capital requirements of the HN GRS IERENEE2 o

Group. Details are explained in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) EEHTEERZMNIERR

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key TYHHREERRNETERE LR REE

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting RO EMES T ETREZNTERE M

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material RN A TEAEFEEER T —

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities R EENEENAEETMEBELEX

within the next financial year, are discussed below. FEGEARE

(i) Impairment loss for property, plant and equipment, right- (i) Y S R AR E - (E A E R
of-use assets and intangible assets (other than goodwill) TEBE (BEBIN) 85 B E 18
Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and W MERLE FTRELERE
intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated FEAERKARESHITE RRE(m
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining BV RETEERD MER
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to IR 8= [ B 1T M ET R s SHET
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in - (WREBEEHEBEREEM
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any IEIZA e 2 BEBE: QBER
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether MEETEHUATTWE SRS - |
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the BEREE IRREEFEREERN
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net FRRRBESRENFEE: XQO)
present value of future cash flows which are estimated Y ERAGE T E S RER RS
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the B (BERS RSN REEAEL
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in K)o B ESK(HEEREEN AU
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash O - AEBGMEENBES
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. EAEEAKANE 45 o FERE
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable Hi aERES REEIRNAELE
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the R R R - A aeRE R E
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to SPTELAEIR(GE -

which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.
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5.

122

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(b)
)

(i)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment loss for property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
as at 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$426,000
(2023: HK$556,000). Right-of-use assets and
intangible assets were fully impaired at 31 March 2024
and 2023.

During the year, impairment for property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$258,000 (2023: HK$742,000) and HK$2,953,000
(2023: HK$4,601,000) were charged to profit or loss
respectively.

Allowance for inventories

Allowance for inventories is made based on the ageing,
change in the market conditions and estimated net
realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
allowance amount involves judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome in future is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/
write-back in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately HK$21,334,000 (2023:
HK$22,535,000).

During the year, allowance for inventories of
approximately HK$272,000 (2023: HK$1,884,000) was
charged to profit or loss.

5. BHBHEREEMT (E)

AT EERENEZRIR (E)
() VF BERRE EAEEERE
TEAE (BEESN) B ER 1R ()

(b)

R2024F3A31H ¥ BEX
BB R E A4 5426,0007 T
(2023 % : 556,000/ 7C) ° FAEE
BE N E E R 2024 F K 20234 3
A 31 BEZUR(E -

FAN - W BE MR B R HE
& ERE D B 49258,0007% 7T (2023
£ ¢ 742,000/ 7T ) } 2,953,000 % 7T
(20234 : 4,601,000587T) 2 B8

g -
i) FEEAE

FRABDERER  DARDIIT

IR R - R

%%E/%/F&# B R fhEt o W RIR EERAS
RERBMHFTR - BAZRETE
BERBMETEENEANTEE REE
R, E 2 BRI A -

HR2024F3A31H - FTEMEREELD
/521,334,00078 7T, (2023 4F : 22,535,000
BT ©

F R FE R E 272,000 T

(20234 : 1,884,000 7T) D BB
Mk -
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iv)

R REERRA

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount
of impairment loss of trade receivables under ECL
model based on the credit risk of trade receivables.
The amount of the impairment loss based on ECL
model is measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was approximately HK$16,624,000 (2023:
HK$10,580,000), net of allowance for impairment
under ECL of approximately HK$835,000 (2023:
HK$697,000).

Actuarial assumptions on defined benefit retirement plans
Accounting for defined benefit plans may be complex
because actuarial assumptions are required to
measure the obligation and the expense, with the
possibility that actual results differ from the assumed
results. These differences are known as actuarial gains
and losses. Defined benefit obligations are measured
using the Projected Unit Credit Method (PUCM),
according to which the Group has to make a reliable
estimate of the amount of benefits earned in return for
services rendered in current and prior periods, using
actuarial techniques. In addition,
defined benefit plans are funded, the Group has to
estimate the fair value of plan assets. As a result, the

in cases where

use of the PUCM involves a number of actuarial
assumptions. These assumptions include demographic
assumptions such as mortality, turnover and retirement
age and financial assumptions such as discount rates,
salary and benefit levels. Such assumptions are subject
to judgements and may develop materially differently
than expected and therefore may result in significant
impacts on defined benefit obligations.

The carrying amount of retirement benefit obligations
as at 31 March 2024 was HK$313,000.

al/ F£$%2024

5.

B F M & E AT ()

(b)

Rt T RERFZNEZREF (&)

(i)

(iv)

B 5 W E
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

MEEBRER

REBHEBEEAZSRYBRR - SMERR -
EERE  MERBRREBHESER - KAEBEN
ERARERNNTINSATBOFAEA

-

EEZARREHAEETERRERNE

M E -

(@) Foreign currency risk (a) HNERER
The functional currency of the Group’s entities are principally AEESEEMNDEEEZZUE T A
denominated in HK$, Renminbi (‘RMB”), Macau Pataca RETARY]) RIS (NRMY%E]) &
(“MOP”) and Great British Pound (“GBP”). The Group has BREDAE - AREAEENHH X
certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its RGP BERBENAREEEESAWN
business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated Ee AN EME (=T ([Ex]) ~ B
in currencies other than the functional currency of respective TR RARKE) BB - RAEEZE
Group’s entities such as United States dollars (“US$”), EYE TFINERBR ©
European dollars (‘EURO”) and RMB.
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the risk RAREERAE  BRNBTEETHE -
of movements in exchange rates between HK$ and US$, and MRPIM B THe - BT ETRBT
HK$ and MOP to be insignificant since the HK$ is pegged HRPIEHMEREESRBEMN - Bt - I
against the US$ and MOP is pegged against HK$. YT H 2R T RS T H R P ) i R 8
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed on the BETHRES T - BEERA - BN
movements in exchange rates between HK$ and US$; and BTz EEEGT2H BN NEX « A
HK$ and MOP. The management is of the view that the REERARBEE NS R BURE
effect of foreign rate measurement between HK$ and EURO DHTEFIAT
would be insignificant. Whilst, the sensitivity analysis of the
Group’s foreign currency risk exposure in respect of RMB is
set out below:
Functional Increase/
currency (decrease) in
strengthened/ consolidated
(weakened) by loss after tax
haeEY BRBBHGREER
FHE(F2fE) i, ()
HK$'000
FHET
Year ended 31 March 2023 HZE2023F 3 A31 HIEFE 5%/(5%) 18/(18)MNete) (Hiaz)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ2024F3A31HILEE 5%/(5%)  36/(36)Nete) (Hi)

Note: This is mainly a result of foreign exchange gain/(loss) on bank
deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables denominated in RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit
risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with
banks, foreign exchange transactions and other financial
instruments. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies,
for which the Company considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit
subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and
control relating to customer credit risk management.
Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from the date
of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 1 month
past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral or other credit enhancements from
customers.

The Group has limited concentration of credit risk as it has a
large number of customers.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivable at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

T EE AR AR / 32024

6.

B EBRERE (F)
(b) FERR

EERBERXSHFREBTENERT
AXFFANEATHETMERAEEMN
BREANRR - REBENEERBIRA K
2EH(ERERAEHEWHIA) RRE SR
mE BREBITER IEXZREME
MTAE - ARFMELHRTIAESERE
EZEERRAR  REARZXZYH FER
BREEHAREBI TS EEFRNORITR
TREE  AARHLHRAEERRAE

BREENRER  BFREEART
EFEERR -MAEBEETEERED
EPHBEETEMNEENE - ZFTES
PR E P BT B H SR RC 8% S 3R B HO 1
RN LEBEFPHENBERAREP
BEMERLBERENABEN - BHREK
FHRIAM RS 30 290 KA EIE] « 4
HEBR—EANR EOEBAREEMRE
AMEEEBRED AT HEREANEE - — K
ME  AEETEERFFPXHERRNL
HAFERE -

HREABAERF  AREMNEERRSE
hREAR

RE [ AR & (0 AR B R (E B AR
EELR ©

AEEZAER2HMBHREREEENSE
AEESRUIANEIEREE R
RABEBEENE - AR ARBENBERE
ERRERITEBRRTATRSHNER
BAFEERER  MAKELELE -5
&y AR R Z Biza iR EE e
JE R -

125



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ER AR FEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at

31 March 2024:

B EBRERE (F)

(b) FEERE(E)
B SN E (E)

TRIBHENR2024FE3 /31 HWAEEE 5
ERFBEERR LBHEEBEER

2024

2024 £
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEREE BREAAE EERE
% HK$°000 HK$’000
FH T THET
Current (not past due) BIEA (AR7aE) 0.7% 4,491 30
1-90 days past due wWHEI1E 90 H 0.8% 7,318 60
91-180 days past due #EIO1 =180 H 4.1% 2,607 107
More than 180 days past due  #HiFR:E 180 H 21.0% 3,043 638
17,459 835

2023

2023 5
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
8 B g 1E BREBE R
% HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Current (not past due) BPER (AR Ep) 0.3% 4,632 12
1-90 days past due #HI1 =90 H 0.4% 1,725 7
91-180 days past due #EFO1 =180 H 3.2% 967 31
More than 180 days past due  #HiEB:E 180 H 16.4% 3,953 647
11,277 697

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and adjusted for forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

()

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Movements in the loss allowance for trade receivables during
the year are as follows:

6.

B EBRERE (F)
(b) FEERE(E)
B SN TE (&)

FREZREGABERFEZBHOT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAET

At 1 April R4A1H 697 601

Impairment losses recognised for the year & A HESR R G 6518 138 96

At 31 March K3 HA31H 835 697
Other receivables and deposits HMERARIEE

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the ECL of
these balances based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also qualitative and quantify the information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information
and concluded that there were no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and therefore, the Group
assessed the ECL to be immaterial.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s lease liabilities bear interests at fixed interest
rates and therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its
bank deposits. These bank deposits bear interests at floating
rates varied with the then prevailing market condition.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the end of
reporting period, its income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

At the end of reporting period, the Group assess the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk to be insignificant and
thus no sensitivity analysis is presented.

T EE AR AR / 32024

(c)
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6.

128

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HXEKRERE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (d REBELER
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and AN E K HUR A E BB IR R FE BR YR
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains HESFE - UBARELR T UENEH
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in EBRERHRBESHF KNRSHE -
the short and longer term.
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRETFAEESRBEENSRSEHRY
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the Group’s BRTENIEHER  DERRIBRER
financial liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows 2 (BEREHFIES (WNES) kRS HE
(including interest payments computed using contractual BIEAFI R A BRI B AR RAEE A 1 2
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the reporting kI R&ET B EMED -
date) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities based ERGHARUERBRERENIEESRE
on contractual undiscounted cash flow is as follows: BEEBRITOT :
Less than Between Between
On demand 1year 1and2years 2andb5 years
RER DPR1E 182F 2E5F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET T TET
At 31 March 2024 R202453A31H
Trade payables B S ENFA = 4,730 = -
Other payables and accrued Ho o < 5B M FE AT
expenses & - 4,307 - -
Lease liabilities HEBE - 3,657 1,488 -
At 31 March 2023 720233831 H
Trade payables B SR - 2,384 - -
Other payables and accrued H e R0E M T
expenses BH - 5,138 - -
Lease liabilities HEEE - 2,224 1,338 720
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HXEKRER (&)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 March () M3AINAMEREIAMER
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets at amortised costs REHAATIRN R EE 21,537 29,966
Financial liabilities: SEaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised costs IREERAYENSRHARE 9,037 7,522
()  Fair values nH 2¥E
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and AEBNSRHEERESRBERNGAENK
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement MARREOEAERLSE E’] N EM
of financial position approximate their respective fair values. 5
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. 2HER
The Group has two reportable segments as follows: AEERMRER 2HO BT -
—  Sales of biometrics identification devices, security products —  HEAVBHREREE REERMLHEM
and other accessories g
—  Provision of auxiliary and other services includes (i) — RIEAEEREMRT - BIE()#E - LK
maintenance, installation and solution services; and (i) BRSR TR ¢ R (i) B A o
software licensing.
The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that AREBR A 2H D 2T ARETRE R LRSS
offer different products and services. They are managed separately REEMEEBEN - AR S EHERKTEFMEE
because each business requires different technology and marketing SHIREE - M E2E/ROBIHERIERE -
strategies.
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as KEDIBRSETR R B A M ERRM T 4P
those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. HHERA - A ERE N HBEE T BEEMWYA - 775
Segment profits or losses do not include other income, finance BRA s RAOBRAAN(HFBEEERDHEAY
costs, unallocated costs, which comprise selling and distribution TR HEMKERY B ERFERERRE
expenses, corporate administrative and other operating expenses, ARFERES) -
impairment loss of trade receivables and income tax expense.
Segment assets and liabilities are not presented in the consolidated DEEERBERCGEMBHREFRES - DE
financial statements as they are not regularly reviewed by the BEWTNFEFHRAEBESEER -

Group’s directors.

R B ARDE / F42024
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BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DHER(E)
(@) Operating segment of the Group (@) AEEKED
Information about reportable segment profit or loss: BT EWMOFBERMER
Sales of
biometrics
identification
devices,
security
products  Provision of
and other auxiliary and
accessories other services Total
HELEMEH
HAlFEE -
REEmM RERER
& H o4 H iR % Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZE2024F3A3MALFE
Revenue from external customers 2R 8 7N 28% B KU 25 37,270 17,102 54,372
Segment profit pan=ivinl 16,826 8,368 25,194
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3 A3 HLFE
Revenue from external customers & BN & F B9 UL =S 27,737 15,414 43,151
Segment profit 73 BB A 12,296 712 13,008
Reconciliations of reportable segment and profit or loss: Al 2o MBI AVEER ¢
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
TFH T FHET
Profit or loss: 8%
Total profit of reportable segments Al 2o FEY % F 4858 25,194 13,008
Other income and other gains/(losses), net  H il A R E Mz (E18) %48 3,008 1,497
Selling and distribution costs THE R SRR (10,100) (9,639)
Corporate administrative and EITHREMEERT
other operating expenses (33,386) (28,675)
Impairment loss of trade receivables B S W IE R AR (138) (96)
Finance costs BTG AR (234) (119)
Income tax credit/(expense) g%tk e, (Bs) 29 (132)
Consolidated loss for the year FRIRAEE (15,627) (24,156)
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BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Geographical information

Information about the Group’s non-current assets based on
the geographical location is presented as follows:

7.

7 HRPER ()
(b) HIEEH

ERREERMEHRAEZIFRDEE

AR2IUMT :

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FHET

Hong Kong B 426 556
Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment, ITBEEREDE  BELERE  FH

right-of-use assets and intangible assets.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers presented based on the geographical location
where the Group operates is as follows:

BEENNEBVEE -

ERAEBRELEMEMELE 2 RAI
MEPWENEHZINT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 5

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#& T FHET

Hong Kong B8 48,315 39,740
PRC FE 5,814 3,179
Macau SEPY 243 232
Consolidated totall FEEMEs 54,372 43,151

() Information about major customers
Information about major customers whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of revenue of the Group during the years

() BHETEEZFHENR

R 5 FNE E 202445 K2023F3 A31H
FFEBEBAEENEI0NNIERFE

ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is as follows: &
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FE T FHET
Customer A (note) BPAMEE) 5,834 N/A T3 A
Customer B (note) BEFB (M) 5,942 N/A i A

Note: Customer A and customer B did not contribute over 10% of
the revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

T EE AR AR / 32024

Mfat - BZE2023F3A31 HILFE  BEFARE
FBIEEEBBANEEMUKZEA10% °
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8. REVENUE 8. &
Revenue represents the invoiced values of goods sold and service Was 18 FT & o M IR ARG LS HIBR R B R AT N1
rendered, after allowances for returns and discounts. An analysis of MEEE - AEEFARGZHOITOT :

the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Sales of biometrics identification devices, HEEYMBEH#AIEE  REERK
security products and other accessories H b B 37,270 27,737
Provision of auxiliary and other services RHERE RH AR 17,102 15,414
54,372 43,151
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
Revenue from contracts with customers FHEFKHRELEAE15HEBER HK$’°000 HK$’000
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HNEEE#HKE FHET FHET
Recognised at a point in time A E — Iy AR 44,347 32,651
Recognised over time e B R FE v 10,025 10,500
54,372 43,151
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance DEZE2024F3ANHB TROET(KRBITH
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024 B ARBIT) X 5 EE RIETEAR BRI ZE a0
and the expected period of recognising revenue as follows: T
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#& T FHET
Provision of auxiliary and other services RERE R HARKS
Within one year N—FR 10,885 7,938
More than one year but not more than LR —FEDRME
two years 1,215 921
12,100 8,859
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HZE2024 3 A31 HIEFE

9. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), 9. HWkAREMUWK:E (&E)FE
NET
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Insurance claim RIgRE 142 -
Interest income FLEWA 144 82
Government grants* I F#EBh > - 822
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary ST A Rl 2 Was 2,366 -
Gain on disposals of property, plant and HEME - BB REE
equipment EAE W 21 35
Foreign exchange gains, net M 3, Wb o 7 5 181 556
Others HAh, 154 2
3,008 1,497
* Government grants represent subsidies from the Government of the * BT BN BB R BT T I R BUN IR IR R s 251 &
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the Employment RALEREL - RIME IR - AR F)W EIBATH B
Support Scheme. At the end of the reporting period, there is no M R B TIE sk s AR E T o
unfulfilled conditions nor other contingencies attached to the
government grants.
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BIEEEA
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF# T FHET
Effective interest expenses on lease liabilities FAE&EHNEERF 2% 222 119
Interest expenses on retirement benefit RNEFEBHOFEFAEZ
obligations 12 -
234 119
R R EE AR AT / F382024 133
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BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is stated after charging/(crediting) the

11. BRBATEE

REBEBRBATEB BT LR GEA) AT RE

following: &38R
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
BiaE THERT FHET
Depreciation e
— Owned assets (note 17) — BEEEME17) (@) 394 272
— Right-of-use assets (note 18) — EREEE(HE18) 1,203 -
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA(BRREESIHE)
emoluments) (b)
— Salaries, bonus, allowances and —He - TEA - RBER
other benefits in kind Ht B = 31,885 28,818
— Commission — e 622 508
— Retirement benefits scheme — RRREFET MR
contributions 1,698 1,442
34,205 30,768
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBATZ U (2,366) -
Gain on disposals of property, HEE - BER
plant and equipment B (21) (39)
Cost of inventories sold BEFEEMRAN 20,272 14,284
Foreign exchange gains, net P 34 IR 2505 48 (181) (556)
Operating lease charges in EHEETEE TR ERLE
respect of premises under HBEX
short-term lease arrangements 1,090 1,800
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN &
— Audit services — EZIRH 600 550
— Non-audit services — JEBIZRAS 70 100
Impairment loss of trade receivables & 5 fE U B RE 1B 138 96
Impairment loss on property, Yz - B R R EEE
plant and equipment 258 742
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets  {F A& E R EE1E 2,953 4,601
Allowance for inventories (included in FERE(BIEHEE MIEH
costs of sales and services rendered)  FRISALAN) 272 1,884
Notes: W
(a) Depreciation on owned assets of approximately HK$21,000 for the (@) HZE2024F3A3AIEFENEBEEENELN

year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$54,000) is included in costs of
sales and services rendered.

21,0007 7T (2023 4F : 54,0008 7T) Bt AHE
RAREARIS B A A

(b) Staff costs of approximately HK$5,697,000 for the year ended 31 (o)
March 2024 (2023: HK$6,024,000) are included in cost of sales and
services rendered.

H E2024F3A3IALFE BIRAY
5,697,000 7% 7T (2023 4F : 6,024,000/ 7T) E.5F A
SHE RIBHRISHIAA
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12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

12. B (ER) BAxX

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T FAT

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEAREIE — EABRNEH
Provision for the year FREE = 152
Over-provision in prior years B FEBEARE (29) (20)
Total tax (credit)/expense for the year FRRR(ER) FXEE (29) 132

The Group is not subject to taxation in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands.

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax Regime, one of the Company’s
Hong Kong subsidiaries is subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at
the rate of 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) for the first HK$2 million of its
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% (2023:16.5%) on its
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. Other Hong Kong
subsidiaries not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit Tax Regime are
subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5%
(2023:16.5%) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in the PRC is
subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% (2023:
25%) during the year. No PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been
provided for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the
Group’s PRC subsidiary either did not generate any assessable
profits or has sufficient tax losses forward to set off against its
assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in Macau is
subject to Macao Complementary Tax, under which taxable income
of up to MOP600,000 (2023: MOP600,000) is exempted from
taxation with taxable income beyond this amount to be taxed at the
rate of 12% (2023: 12%) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

T EE AR AR / 32024

REBERBHRFASHE RRBRIEEHE -

REMEFESHHE  RNARHEFP—HEBHE
REVERGETERTE TN E 2 B &8 TiR8.25%
(20234 : 8.25%) WIFL RGN BB FEH - Wik
B2 BB A TR AR FE R RLE TR 16.5% (2023
F:16.5%) R EHNEB NG - & =2024
FIABLEFE  EMAFEMAFEHRGE
BB B AR AR 16.5% (20234 : 16.5%) K
RN E BRG] -

FR - NEBEPRBEK RELEHEBARAR
FRE 25% (2023 %F : 25%) BiMP BE>¥ 5 H: -
B AN S B O AP B Y BB A ) 4 7 A T B AR AR
i M5B B SR A R TA B 18 UK S L = 2024
FR2028F3 A3 BIEFEMNERT R - thiE
2024 FF 20233 A31 B IEFE W E R FHH
B E TSR

IRE B ITRPIA T R AL & B FT B A BB 8 AR Y
FriSHze Rt - #It - BiE2024F3A31HIEFE -
JE R B U A & =600,00058 9 # (20234 :
600,000 PI¥E) BA o 404 - R HH 32 & FE 00 FERR B
WAL 12% (2023 4F : 12%) B9FE RANF o
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12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued)
The reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/expense and the

12. FiBH(ER) B (&)
FTEB(Ee) A BRRATEERALREES
product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits Tax BREREMGE 2 BENERAT

136

rate of the Group is as follows:

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FHET

Loss before tax BRELATE 1B (15,656) (24,024)
Tax at the domestic tax rate of 16.5% A 16.5% (2023 F : 16.5%)

(2023: 16.5%) STEOFE (2,583) (3,964)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable U ONL (508) (144)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 7~ EH1 3 5 2 &0 Fit 75 5 22 2,805 2,460
Tax effect of temporary differences AERERHEZENT ST

not recognised (187) (25)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not BRAARIARERBBBERNRBETE

previously recognised (350) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERBRGEROHRETE 863 1,989
Over-provision in prior years BEFEEERE (29) (20)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries B AR TR RN FE (40) (12)
Tax effect of preferential tax rate BEHERNOHETE = (152)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FRMEH(ER),/ FX (29) 132
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HZE2024 3 A31 HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s

(@

MR EEBR AT / £$R2024

services as a director, where of the Company, or its

subsidiaries undertaking were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

13. EEKESMS
(@ ESEE

HEEEE(T

AN A S E B A RH
AR ATEXNREMBOFHMOT -

BE202453A31BLLFE

Retirement
Other benefits
Salaries and  Discretionary benefits scheme
Fees allowances bonus inkind  contributions Total
Hith RUKER
e HEeREH MERA BYFE TR @it
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT T TR TR TEL THT
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Wang Yicheng (note i) TR (Ba) = 66 = = 3 69
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline ERTT
(“Ms. Pauline Yuen’) Mzt - 1,704 137 - 18 1,859
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen (note i R (W iti) - 280 - - 12 292
Mr. Hui Cho Lung (note i) AR (B atii) - 240 = = 13 253
Mr. Lin Shixing (note iv) WEES A (Hativ) - 33 - - - 33
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony BrBE LA
(“Mr. Tony Yuen’) (note vi) ([Broks])
(Kt vii) - 2,022 163 780 18 2,983
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph ERAEE (M)
(note v) 190 - = = = 190
Ms. Leung Wai Hing, Ella PEBTL (W)
(note vi) 90 - - - - 90
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Mr. Wong Ching Wan (note vii) & % 4 (Histvii) 120 - - - = 120
Mr. Chung Billy ErEks 120 = = = - 120
Mr. Poon Wai Hung, Richard & {815 4 (Hzx)
(note x) 105 = - - - 105
Mr. Ke Tianxiong (note x) FIRHE A (W5t xi) 23 - = o - 23
648 4,345 300 780 64 6,137
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EER{ESM< (&)

(continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (@) EZHEe (E
For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE2023F3HA31HLEEFE
Retirement
Other benefits
Salaries and Discretionary benefits scheme
Fees allowances bonus in kind contributions Total
it RINER
we HekEl it EMFIE FHEIfR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TET T T FHEL THEL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Tony Yuen (note vi) BuB{R S (et vii) - 1,944 318 648 18 2,928
Ms. Pauling Yuen EScy e - 1,644 276 - 18 1,938
Ms. Sun Ngai Chu, Danielle BRUuLt
(note xi) (Wit xii) - 650 130 - 15 795
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen (note i 1EREE (W ti) - 420 - - 18 438
Mr. Hui Cho Lung (note i) AERE LA (M atii) - 54 - - 4 58
Non-executive director FGTER
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph TRAEE (W)
(note v) 240 - - - - 240
Ms. Leung Wai Hing, Ella REELL (Hv)
(note vi) 16 - - - - 16
Independent non-executive BYEHTES
directors
Mr. Wong Ching Wan (note vii) £ & Z 54 (Hf5tvii) 95 - - _ _ %
Ms. Wang Xiaoman (note ix) FrES 7+ (Hitix) 15 - - _ _ 15
Mr. Chung Billy EEELE 120 - _ _ _ 120
Mr. Poon Wai Hung, BRI (HaEx)
Richard (note x) 120 - - - - 120
606 4,712 724 648 73 6,763
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(vi)

(vii)
(viii)

(X)

(x)

()

(xii)

Appointed on 26 January 2024

Resigned on 30 November 2023

Appointed on 10 January 2023 and resigned on 31 May 2024

Appointed on 22 December 2023

Resigned on 15 January 2024

Appointed on 10 February 2023 and resigned on 31
December 2023

Redesignated as non-executive director on 13 May 2024

Appointed on 17 June 2022

Appointed on 15 December 2021 and retired on 16 May 2022

Resigned on 15 February 2024

Appointed on 22 January 2024

Resigned on 31 January 2023

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

T EE AR AR / 32024

13. EE=REESMS (E)

(a)

ESME (&)

Kt

(vii)

(viii

(i)

)

(i)

(i)

20241 26 HEZE

720234 11 A 30 HEHT

7K2023F1 A10 B B L E - W 1K 2024F
5H 31 HEHT

HR2023F 12 B22 HEER(T

2024 F1 15 BEHE

H2023F2 A10HEEF - W 2023 F
12 A31 BHEHT

R2024F5 B13HFALAIERITES

K2022F 6 A17 HEZ T

MR2021F 12 15 H & £ F - W 72022
F5 16 HEHT

2024 F2 415 BEHE

M2024F1 22 HEZ T

202341 A 31 HEHT

REE 2024 F % 202343 A31 HIFFE
THEEEREXRERETMNHESOLHE -
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EER{ESM< (&)

(continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2024 included 2 (2023: 2) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments of the remaining 3 (2023: 3) individuals are
set out below:

AUBRSEHMAL
HZE2024F3A3BILEE  AEBAM
BRFMALTHRIEIE2E (202346 : 24)
BEE HEReE LMD TR R -
H#3% (2023 F : 348) ALHBNSHE S0
T

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Basic salaries and allowances HEAH & KR/ 4,867 4,184
Performance bonus RIRTEAT 102 388
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3 k& Fll 5+ 2] 4 2k 36 36
5,005 4,608

The emoluments fell within the following band: e BRATEER :

Number of individuals

A
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T 2 1,500,000 7% 7T 3 3

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

(c) Senior management’s emoluments (c)
Senior management represents the executive directors. The
emoluments paid or payable to senior management during
the years have been set out in the analysis presented above.

H £2024F K 20233 A31H It FE -
AEEBREATNESSSZTSHEMA LTS
NERBMESIEAMBEMBEAREB LD R
Bk (E R BE A1 o

SREEENE
ERERBERTESE - FACNRERN
SRERBEOMSEHN X258 -
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EERESME (&)
(continued)

(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (d) EFEERRE  THIEHNTNERES
arrangements or contracts
Save for disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial BRERE BTSRRI TE 40 AT B A S - L IE
statements, no other significant transaction, arrangement and ARBRITNFTERRBEERESHE
contract in relation to the Group’s business to which the FTEEXRHEREFHEENERMER
Company was a party and in which a director of the EEEBEENEMEARS THEE
Company and the director’'s connected party had a material RIPA AR NI D R TF4E o

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year of at any time during the year.

14. DIVIDENDS 14. RE
No dividend had been paid or declared by the Company during the QB F AN E B IRERAR B (2023 5 -
year (2023: Nil). K
15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. SREBE
(a) Basic loss per share (@) BREXEE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the BREFREBBIERTIISETE -
following:
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF# T FHET
Loss &8
Loss for the purpose of calculating STESRAREIENEE
basic loss per share (15,627) (24,156)
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4
’000 ‘000
TR FAx
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary FFEEREAREBA TR INE
shares for the purpose of calculating FH g
basic loss per share 800,000 800,000
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) EREEESE
Diluted loss per share was the same as the basic loss per AR EBEEELT AR BREBSER
share for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as there 1A £2024F K2023F3A31H IFF[E
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares. B EREREIEER -

MR E EAIR AT / £ 2024 141
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16.

142

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5%
(2023: 5%) of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly
maximum amount of HK$1,500 (2023: HK$1,500) per employee
and vest fully with employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

As stipulated under the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC,
the employees of a Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC is a
member of a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. This subsidiary is required to contribute
certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to
the central pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees of
this subsidiary. The only obligation of this subsidiary with respect to
the central pension scheme is to meet the required contributions
under the scheme.

There was no forfeited contribution in respect of the defined
contribution plan available at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

16. EBRRBFRIFTE

AEBERBERBROEDESH GO AEEM
BREREEEFERIMAESTE(RESH
B AEEHBRESHIZHRAEBFERTE
B15% (20234 : 6%) 5 H - BREEFARS
© % /31,5007 7T (2023 4F : 1,500/8 7T ) M AE A
BEREHHEREEARENES

REBEHBARBRR RS - REBEPBERIN
B BB X B B9 B 2 0 75 T BT E (R P SRR IR
Tt 8 - ZMBARARPREKSFEIZER
EAFHERTENET AN BT URRKE
MEBHES - 77 H R AEAEZN B AR
BIRE FORFRINE B RRIREN B - %K B
NAFLR SRR RS S M — T RE N SR
TRERHEK -

72024 FF [ 20234 3 A 31 B I & 7E FE 4 AT &l
B ER R AT T -
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% BERRE

Furniture Biometrics
and identification Motor Computer Leasehold
fixtures devices vehicles equipment  improvement Total
EMEA
BRREE HAEE RE EKRE HEEE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAL AT FAL FEL AT
Cost A
At 1 April 2022 R2022%471H 1,016 7 1,811 1,167 4,793 9,504
Additions NE 560 271 643 96 - 1,570
Disposals HE - - (137) - - (137)
Exchange realignment EzEES (10) - - (21) - (31)
At 31 March 2023 and R2023 3 A31H R
1 April 2023 20234 F1H 1,566 988 2,317 1,242 4,793 10,906
Additions RE 1,012 203 121 177 894 2,407
Disposals HE 49) - (546) - - (589)
Derecognised upon HERE L Bk
disposal of a subsidiary £ L FEZ2 (1,431) - - (218) (894) (2,543)
Exchange realignment EHAE (13) - - {17 - (30)
At 31 March 2024 R2024E3831H 1,091 1,191 1,892 1,184 4,793 10,151
Accumulated depreciation EiHTERFE
and impairment
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 818 1,016 7 1,811 1,167 4,793 9,504
Charge for the year FRXH 112 54 87 19 - 272
Disposals HE - - (137) - - (137)
Impairment A 448 217 - 77 - 742
Exchange realignment EHAE (10) - - 1) - (31)
At 31 March 2023 and R2023E3A31AK
1 April 2023 20234510 1,566 988 1,761 1,242 4,793 10,350
Charge for the year FRAXH 106 21 206 8 53 394
Disposals HE 43) - (501) - - (544)
Impairment AE 54 182 - 22 - 258
Derecognised upon HERE L T
disposal of a subsidiary & ILFER (579) - - (7) (53) (703)
Exchange realignment ERAE (13) - - {17 - (30)
At 31 March 2024 #2024 3531 B 1,001 1,191 1,466 1,184 4,793 9,725
Carrying amount FHE
At 31 March 2024 R2024E3A31H - - 426 - - 426
At 31 March 2023 R 20233 R 318 - - 556 - - 556
R EE AR AT / F£372024 143
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FREEE

Leased

properties

HEWE

HK$’000

FAT

At 1 April 2022 R2022F481H =

Additions NE 4,601
Impairment VERIE! (4,601)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R 202343 431 HKX2023%F4A1H -

Additions wnE 4,156
Depreciation e (1,203)
Impairment WE (2,953)
At 31 March 2024 7A202453H31H =
Lease liabilities of approximately HK$4,955,000 (2023: M2024463 A31 H - R 1H & & &494,955,000
HK$4,052,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets after T (2023 £F ¢ 4,052,000 7 7T ) & [F B HUR B & &Y
impairment in full of approximately HK$Nil (2023: HKS$NIil) as at 31 HEEREEENTHEIT(0234F  BHIT) - %
March 2024. These lease agreements do not impose any SHEME TR EHEASEHOE
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that EEEPMIRBEZRIIN HEEETSHEE

are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security i AR -

for borrowing purposes.
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 18. FHEEE (&)

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets {# FEAEINER X 1,203 -
Impairment NERIE] 2,953 4,601

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAENSFRZ G ABBRA)
(included in finance costs) 222 119

For both years, the Group leases office and staff quarters for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2-3
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

RREFE  AEEHERAELETIEEHE
B2 EHNBREER2E3F - HEKRKIZHE
PEERER - BB TRGRREN - REE
HE R EN AT HHABR RS - AEEERS
HHER MEESNATHITHIR -

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. EREEE
HK$'000
T
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and A2022%F4 8108 - 202338311 -
31 March 2024 20234 HA1HK2024%3 A31H 1,850
Accumulated amortisation REt#e
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and M2022%F4H1H - 20233 H318 -
31 March 2024 202344 18K 2024F3H31H 1,850
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2024 A2024%3A31H =
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H -

Intangible assets represent internally generated capitalised software
development costs. Such intangible assets have definite useful life
and are amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

T EE AR AR / 32024

BIVEERANSEEZ EMBFRBERE © %
BEEAAEARAEAFHMTIRERENGF
MBS -
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20.

21.

146

INVENTORIES 20. &
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T FHT
Merchandises [l 21,334 22,535

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s inventories are stated at
cost less allowance for inventories.

During the year, allowance for inventories of approximately

RIEHR - AEEFERRARFEREIIE -

F R FE BB 272,000 JT(20234F :

HK$272,000 (2023: HK$1,884,000) was charged to profit or loss. 1,884,000/ 7C) B BBk o
TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. ESEWFRE
2024 2023
2024 4 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
From third parties KEFE= 17,459 11,277
Less: allowance for doubtful debts o REREME (835) (697)
16,624 10,580
The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The RKE 51%:)5 E’j BEERETEALE -MAEP
credit period granted to the customers generally range from 30 to HEOEEH KN FE30Z290H - REBFREHH
90 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its RESEEWGIBETRRISH] - BHEHBEES
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly TFHIZER

by the directors.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, net of

21. EZEWFEE(E)

REBEIZHE A MG E R E 5 UG IR (IR R AR

allowance for doubtful debts and based on the invoice date is as BE) MR DT T -
follows:

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHT
0-90 days 0ZE 90K 10,594 6,173
91-180 days 91 £180K 2,958 759
181-365 days 181 £ 365K 1,602 1,500
Over 365 days 365 KA 1,470 2,148
16,624 10,580

As of 31 March 2024, trade receivables of approximately
HK$12,163,000 (2023: HK$5,960,000) were past due but not
considered as default. These trade receivables related to customers
for whom are mainly listed companies or large property developers
with no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade

M2024F3 A31H - EHEIKFKIAL 12,163,000
7 70 (2023 FF 1 5,960,000 7t ) B i# BB 148
BEY - ZFE 5 EUGIEEI AT HE AR 8
MEF(EBAFMARIRAEEEMREN)E
B o %S E 5 EWGIE (IR RERE) R HA

receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts and based on due FTEMRRSITAT ¢
date, is as follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHT
1-90 days 1£290K 7,258 1,718
91-180 days 91 £180K 2,500 936
Over 180 days 180K 2,405 3,306
12,163 5,960
The Group does not charge interest over these balances. ZRES B I i S A SRR B, o
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. B SEWFEIE &)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables at the end REEER - XEBE 5 ERKIE (KR R R
of reporting period, net of allowance for doubtful debts, are B RRmEN TP EEERE -

denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023

2024 2023 4F

HK$°000 HK$’000

F#&T FHET

HK$ BT 16,498 10,497
RMB AR 126 65
MOP pedakics - 18
16,624 10,580

22, OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 22 H#EWRE ANRERRSE

DEPOSITS
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T FAET
Deposits e 1,990 2,277
Prepayments B FOE 523 823
Value added tax receivables FEWIEET = 79
Others Hih 278 242
2,791 3,421
Neither of the above assets is past due nor impaired. The financial Pt EEWRBEASMME  ETA AR SR
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for BE RN T E R SRR E N B A o

which there was no recent history of default.
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23. BANK AND CASH BALANCES
At the end of reporting period, the bank and cash balances of the

23. BITRBSES

RBERR - AEEWRTRAESHE

B TIE

Group are denominated in the following currencies: WA -
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
HK$ BT 3,432 14,787
RMB AR 291 1,078
MOP SRPTHEE 74 24
us$ v 3 85
GBP e - 1,892
Singapore dollars ¥ 2 2
3,802 17,868

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
However, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

T EE AR AR / 32024

AR SR SN R 8 7 o B SME B IR 51 e

HIE - SERMNEEERE - A

R B SN

EERGED ARERERBESRERARIMNESR

BEORITEARBE L BREMEE
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24. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables at the end of

reporting period, based on the invoice date is as follows:

24, BESEMAFE

RBERR  REZAMAENAEREZ RN

RIBMERE AT -

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 FF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

THERT FHET

0-30 days 0ZE 30K 440 221
31-60 days 31E60K 2,694 150
Over 60 days 60 KA = 1,596 2,013
4,730 2,384

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables at the end of
reporting period are denominated in the following currencies:

R|ERR > AEEBSENFENREEAT

FIEEEHE

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHETT

HK$ T 4,297 548
RMB AR 150 72
us$ eV 61 1,631
EURO 5T 222 133
4,730 2,384
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25.

26.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

25, HMENSRERESEHR

2024 2023
2024 2023 fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Accruals for operations REEETE R 4,307 5,138
LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEEE
Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BERENK BEEENTRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FEL TET THT
Within one year —&ER 3,657 2,224 3,501 2,075
In the second to fifth years, inclusive S - EEFHE
(BHEEEMTE) 1,488 2,058 1,454 1,977
5,145 4,282 4,955 4,052
Less: Future finance charges B AREERR (190) (230) N/A RiEH N/A N
Present value of lease obligations HEEKRE 4,955 4,052 4,955 4,052
Less: Amount due for settlement M2 EAREEEER
within 12 months (shown ReE(NReak
under current liabilities) E TR (3,501) (2,075)
Amount due for settlement after R12{EA%IBHERN S
12 months 1,454 1,977
MR E B AR AT / 52024 151
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26.

27.

152

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of

26. HESE(E)
RBERF  AEENFAEREREREUN TS

reporting period are denominated in the following currencies: WEETME -
2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
HK$ BT 4,942 3,612
RVMB AR 13 540
4,955 4,052

The average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is
5% (2023: 5%).

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

HARHEAENTEEEEEFRAE5% (2023
fF:15%) e

27. EWAE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHT

Contract liabilities AHBE 12,100 8,859

The amounts represent the revenue received from sales of
maintenance and other services exceeding the revenue recognised
on straight-line basis over the respective terms of contract.

SRERKREMEEREMRBEENREBEBKRE
BOEN A W HITRER M A
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 27. ANEME ()
Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows: FREHNEEEFUOT :
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Balance at 1 April 481 B 8,859 7,669
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AFNERRET AR 4 A1 BH
recognising revenue during the year was AHaEMERNAENEERD
included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April (7,938) (7,148)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of B K E Aw AR SR AT B ) BS 4K
billing in advance of maintenance and MEMAE L& FEIE N
other services 11,179 8,338
Balance at 31 March 3 A 31 AR 12,100 8,859

At the end of reporting period, contract liabilities were classified in
accordance with the expiry date of the maintenance and other
service contracts entered into.

RBERR - GHNEETDIRRAETEE R
ARI% & #0 JEm B B 048

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T FHET

Analysed for reporting purpose: ERERBR 2D
Current liabilities mEAaE 10,885 7,938
Non-current liabilities IEREBAaE 1,215 921
12,100 8,859

There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities balances
during the reporting period.

The increase (2023: increase) in contract liabilities in 2024 was
mainly due to an increase (2023: increase) in received in advanced
from customers in relation to the provision of auxiliary and other
services.

T EE AR AR / 32024

REHHE AOABEBRITEEAED -

n

2024 F AW B EE (2023 4F - N EER
RERERE R E RSB B ERE B R IE
0 (20234 : A1) »
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28.

154

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for
at least five years are entitled to long service payments in
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where an
employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct
or redundancy, that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or
the employment contract is of fixed term and expires without
renewal. The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference
to the employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years
of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s contributions to MPF scheme, with an overall cap
of $390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived
from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP.
The Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1
May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also
expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a
period of 25 years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by
employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after the
Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-
Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-
Transition Date LSP obligation. On the other hand, the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s voluntary contributions made
pre-, on or post-transition can continue to be used to offset pre-
and post-transition LSP. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the
Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the
last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and
the years of service up to that date.

28.

BRARBENEE
REBEEBEBGRS (E
e
ERERBEEXEEZVRF  EXLBRTARE
REELEERBGIESRIRES - ELBERLE
REBRFEETA/ITERREMERER %R
BE65 A LB - SERA N REEHIRIL
EREHNBERTEW - BNRARBEENESR
E2EZREMNREFHE (LRA22,50087T) &R

578) XN RHMBRBEE

BEEFE - WHRA S E 818 2 5 B
EENERNRERDZSR BREENELRA

390,0007T ° Bl - AEEWEEMEBNES L
PABRTERBRBEEE

20226 A - BURTIBIEET &R - BEREREE
H TSR ARTEANREF SRS RS
RS % - BEBRERBEBE(R12025F581H)
ERAER - bbb+ TEEE B EBI1TER & BT N8
HH—IEMELET 8] URBNE X ERE A AN
BEMIMEERARGE S  SREEEFES
AJES—ESERN AL -

RIBERTIRD] - REE MR RES M - 0
EREEAILE BEIR - R R B AT A
AREHEEE BB RBRG 2 EE - B8
HHBERARRNRMRBERME - 5~ @
AREETGBER - BIEAEIBIER N B FRHR
ﬁﬁéiﬁ’ﬂ%Eﬁ‘JﬁT’iTuﬁ.aﬁﬁﬁ’;\ﬁiﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁ&5‘@5&*
BERERB S - thsh - BIE B HA B R RS
SEESKRRE  URBRZRXBERHINORER
—EARTERBEZRAHNREFR;E -
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 28. ERAKBFHH (F)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment RIEEBERGL (FE57E) XS RERES
Ordinance (Chapter 57) (continued) & (E
2024
2024 F
HK$’000
FER
Opening unfunded obligation FUYRBHED =
Service cost BRIE A AR
— current year — KFE 35
— under-provision for prior year — LFEBRETR 387
Interest cost FLEAA 12
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive REM AR RRENTE —
income — Actuarial gains arising from changes S BREHELFE W
in financial assumptions (121)
Closing unfunded obligation FRABNERB 313
The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 March 2024 is 202443 A31 H  BARBH T ERBA
14.82 years. 14.824F o
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the LSP ErTRIREeETHNERNBERELEE39% N
obligation are discount rate of 3.9%, expected salary increase of IR R 3% W TEAEHIZ R & o UTRAERME S
3%. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on MRERERSHAREAEKNRRES MET
reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions 7 - RIRFRFHMERETE -

occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other
assumptions constant.

. If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher (lower), the LSP o HEITHER EA (R 25 [@E2 - KEAR
obligation would decrease by approximately HK$11,000 & EHEB R LD 411,000 7T (3 1049
(increase by approximately HK$12,000). 12,0007 7T) °

° If the expected salary increases (decreases) by 0.25%, the ° WiEEHF SO L) 0.25% » & HI IR 75
LSP obligation would increase by approximately HK$1,000 S E B INL1,000ETCRDLEETT) ©

(decrease by approximately HK$Nil).

MR EEAR AT / £$2024 155



Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS ER AR FEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

29.

30.

156

BANK BORROWINGS

During the course of business, the Group would obtain banking
facilities in respect of import/export loans from a bank in Hong
Kong. At the end of the reporting period, no bank borrowing has
been drawn by the Group (2023: Nil).

The Group’s banking facilities are secured by:

(@  An unlimited guarantee issued by certain subsidiaries of the
Company for the Group’s banking facilities as at 31 March
2023; and

(b)  Registered security over deposits of the Company and
certain subsidiaries of the Company to the extent of
borrowing being drawn by the Group as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had undrawn facilities amounted
to approximately HK$5,000,000. During the year ended 31 March
2024, the Group’s banking facilities had cancelled.

DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$29,076,000 (2023: HK$26,534,000) that are
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses approximately HK$2,720,000 (2023:
HK$1,770,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year it originated
for offsetting against future taxable profits.

29.

30.

RITER

EXEBBIZT  AEERE—HBBNRTIVG
BRI HOBERMRITRE - RBEHR - K
SR EERAURTT B 50 (2023 F « &) -

REERRITRE B IS HEIN -

(@ 2023 3A31H AR alBETHEBERQR
RAEBERTHRESHNERBEER &

(b) M2023F3A31H  BMARBRAANGE
TFH B A BT EMEKE - AR EER
B E AR o

R2024F3A31TH  AEBRRIHNRBRENA
5,000,000 7T » i £2024 3 A31 B ILEE -
AEBMARITRED N -

IEERIE

RFEBHR AEENADABTEBENLN S
29,076,000 7T (2023 4F : 26,534,000 7T.) * A]
FAVEHE 85 R PR B AR B ) o FR A SR 2 U SRR B9
AAIFEAIME - RSB RY ERRELEREE
E o st AKRBERIIBEIENEIEX) 2,720,000 87T
(20234 1,770,000 L) KRB EEARAF
AEm - B AR SR R ERR B F o
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. KX
Number of
shares Amount
BRHEE S8
‘000 HK$’000
Fh FET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEC.O1B LA T E
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, R2022F4A1H 20233 A31H *
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 2023F 4 H1H K% 2024%F3 A31H 5,000,000 50,000
Number of
shares Amount
RGOEE S5
000 HK$’000
TR FET
Issued and fully paid: ERTREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREE0.01 B TH LB
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, F2022E4 A1 H 20233 A31H -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 2023F 4 A1 H X 2024%F3 A31H 800,000 8,000

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise
the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group comprises
all components of shareholders’ equity.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs
as well as the issue of new debts, redemption of existing debts or
selling assets to reduce debts. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is
that to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. Based on the information
that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float of at least 25% throughout the year ended 31 March 2024. As
of 31 March 2024, 82.48% (2023: 77.61%) of the shares were in
public hands.

T EE AR AR / 32024

AEBEREANBRAREBARESELLN
BN REBBILERRRAERT RRRFERK
RER - AEBEHNEARERBERREANMA
HRTTE -

AEEFBEBEAKAREGREARRENR
BRMEATEEEARAREE AREHSEBIRNMNK
B BITHRERNBRAREITHER B
REBHREEEENRDBEHET A FEHEE
& & A28 15 - R &L 22024 F K 202343 A 31 H
HFE - AAEENER  BEIOTEMEEL

#4
=

o

W—IMERFIEEARBERAREERNBEFED
25% A FFFAR B AL KRB S FT ) _E TR b L o
REARAR A AFRGHERRBESHA - &
ARREE2024F3 A31 AL EAEERNGEE
L25% KT R ARIFIRE - 20243 A31 8 -
82.48% (20234 : 77.61%) IR AR R A LH
ﬁ °
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. A2 FMEEARRE

COMPANY
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB RRINIEE 15,790 18,790
Current assets REEE
Prepayments TAREIE 635 244
Amounts due from subsidiaries AL NGIE O = 702
Bank and cash balances RITRIA S 1,823 11,335
2,458 12,281
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued expenses FEETER 465 17
Amounts due to subsidiaries L NG E ] 1,980 5,065
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,467 -
3,912 5,082
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(BE)EETFE (1,454) 7,199
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABEE 14,336 25,989
Non-current liabilities FREBEME
Retirement benefit obligations RIKEFIET 12 -
NET ASSETS EEZFE 14,324 25,989
Capital and reserves BEARRHE
Share capital [N 8,000 8,000
Reserves EE 6,324 17,989
TOTAL EQUITY MR 14,324 25,989
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on R2024 46 A28 B E S HE R ETIE -
28 June 2024.
Wang Yicheng Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline
E—-REAE SES=g g
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

33. RESERVES 33. f#fE
(@ Group (a) A%HE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein AEERFENSBERAPNEHERGIE
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss mRkEMEERERREEEZEHRA
and other comprehensive income and consolidated 275
statement of changes in equity.
(b) Company (b) ZA&RAF
Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
A ME BARER E-5 ] Foy
(note 33(c)(i)) (note 33(c)(v))
(Hat330))  (Hi33e)w)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FHET TAT
At 1 April 2022 R20226 4818 51,682 22,458 (28,697) 45,443
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE &2 H Kz
income for the year Gk - - (27,454) (27,454)
At 31 March 2023 and 202343 A31H
1 April 2023 K 2023%4R1H 51,682 22,458 (56,151) 17,989
Loss and total FRABBR2EKS
comprehensive e
income for the year - - (11,665) (11,665)
At 31 March 2024 20243 A31H 51,682 22,458 (67,816) 6,324
R R EE AR AT / F382024 159
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

33. RESERVES (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves

160

(i)

(i)

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the
issue of shares at a price in excess of their par value
per share and after deduction of capitalisation issue
and issuance costs of shares.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
aggregated amount of share capital, share premium
and capital reserve of subsidiaries comprising the
Group at the date on which Power Truth Holdings
Limited (“Power Truth”), the then holding company of
the subsidiaries comprising the Group, was acquired
by the Company, over the nominal value of 2,000
shares issued by the Company pursuant to the group
reorganisation on 10 November 2015.

Legal reserve

The Macao Commercial Code number 377 requires
that companies incorporated in Macau should set
aside a minimum of 25% of their respective profit after
income tax to the legal reserve until the balance of the
reserve reaches a level equivalent to 50% of their
capital.

33. #fE (&)
() RENEERRS

0 RwE
BRERESHSRFE  AAFRMNE
BEREMNESAHIIRTARARRRE
HEEEESRBSE A% AQF
BRENNER B EBRER I
HER o

B ERASNE RO EENE
RETRMPAELRRE - WO &
BB BT RN EITHIRA

(i)  EHEE
AHEBIEAEEETNERRRA
ARIEAEEETHE QNN
R AR BB AR AR ([HE])
EHZBA - BREERENFEEE
B HEAREIRE2015F11 A10H
B &= B S 4H 2 1T R 2,000 AR Ak 10 E &
2R ZESE o

(i)  EEREE
RPIREAM B 37T IRRTE - R
A A RIZER S B RATSBIE &
MBELBRBNETEHE EER
18 45 8502 BUB S 7 B R A 50% ) 7K
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BE2024F3A31 BIEFE

33.

34.

RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iv)  Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 4(c)(iii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

(v)  Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus arose from the excess of the
consideration over the nominal value of the 1,000
shares issued by the Company pursuant to the group
reorganisation on 10 November 2015. The
consideration represented the net asset value of Power
Truth as at 30 September 2015.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 January 2018, written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company was passed to conditionally approve and adopt a share
option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) to recognise and
motivate the contributions that eligible participants have made or
may make to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 18 January
2018 will remain in force for a period of ten years from its effective
date to 17 January 2028. Particulars of the Share Option Scheme
of the Company are set out in Appendix IV to the Company’s
prospectus dated 30 January 2018.

There was no share option has been granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme since its effective date and up to
the end of the reporting period.

T EE AR AR / 32024

33.

34.

i (48)
() RENMEERRS (E)
(iv) IMNERE
HNEME B R IERRE S INERH
BHREMEENAEERZ58 o FH
R FRER G B 15 3R 2% I 5 4(c)(iil) T AY
SRR o

V)  BAZEE
BARBELEBRBHBIEARRIRE
2015F 11 A10AMEEEAETH
1,000 IR AR D 1B 2 8258  RIEIEH
B 201599 A30 HMEEFME -

BRAESTE
20181 A18H » ARAIRREMAZRERA
LA GBI E IR EE IR R T 21 ([ AR RE ST 1))
NRBLABEERSEENAEEBIEL A
BETELE AL

NAEA2018F 1 A 18 BIRMABIRE T8I &
ERABE2028F 1 A17 BIEW T FHR%KEHE
Boe RArBRIEFTEINGFBHNRAAR B A
201841 A 30 MBI =2 M srm -

BAMBMEREEREHMR  ARAMERE
SR AR ST B L (AR AR -
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BE2024F3A3 HIEFE

35. SUBSIDIARIES 35. HIEATHE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are AR R @A RN 2024 4 3 A 31 HROFF E#Z 40
set out below: T
Place/date of
incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest place of operation
A8 BMARYL/RILE/ B EEMRAZRE FEREZEA TETHREEDY
Direct Indirect
Hi% Gk
Power Truth British Virgin Islands, 1,000 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding, Hong Kong
28 August 2014 of US$1 each
AL RERAHE 1,000 kG REE 100% - REER BFE
201458 28H 1R EBR
Prime Intelligence Management  Hong Kong, HK$100,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Company Limited 24 April 2018
ELBEERERAF Bk 100,000 7T 100% - EEx R
201854 A 24H
Prime Intelligence Information ~ Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Technology Company 20 April 2020
Limited
ExEREARERAR  FE- 1,000,000/ 7T 100% - EEx R
202054 A20H
Prime Intelligence Trading Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Company Limited 20 April 2020
EZEwE5ERAR &t 1,000,000 7T 100% - BEE AR
202054 A 208
Solution Expert Technology Hong Kong, HK$1,500,000 - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices and
Limited 7 June 1999 security products; and provision of
application software, Hong Kong
EAMBRAERRA &t 1,500,000 % 7T - 100% HEENEHENEERRZER
1999F6A7A LiRfERRARY B8
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35. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place/date of

35. ME2TE (&)

incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest place of operation
B EMAYL/RULE/AE EEMRAZRE FEREREA TEIBREERY
Direct Indirect
Ei# i
Solution Expert Engineering Hong Kong, HK$10,000 - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices and
Limited 9 April 2001 security products; and provision of system
installation, application software and repair
and maintenance services, Hong Kong
ERIRERAA 5k 10,000 57T - 100% HEEMEEHEHIKERRZER
20014 A9H RREZESRE  EREATAUR
ERREERS  BF
Solution Expert Technology Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding; sales of biometrics
(R&D) Limited 30 May 2003 identification devices and security products;
and provision of application software,
Hong Kong
EANEMRERERAR  BE 1,000,000/ 7T - 100% REZR HEENBEERRKERRLER
200354304 RRGERRARY B8
Solution Expert Technology Macau, MOP25,000 - 100%  Sales and provision of installation and
(Macau) Limited 13 September 2004 maintenance of security and information
technology system, Macau
AR CEP) BRAR) RF - 25,000 %P9 % - 100% HERRHZ2REARRRRNZER
200459 A13H i R
=HRE (R ERAT PRC, Registered and - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices;
=553 ) 22 October 2003 paid up capital of and provision of application software and
HK$10,000,000 related after-sale services, PRC
AR ORI ER A FE B R RRA - 100% HEEMEHEIEE  REAERRER
(TEHRRI) 200310 A 228 10,000,000 7 B RRAERRSE - T

Note: SE Shenzhen is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise established in the

PRC.

T EE AR AR / 32024

Kiet - AR —RETBERIAINEBERE -
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. #ERELFERMKE
CASH FLOWS
(@) Disposal of a subsidiary (a) HEWEBLF

On 29 December 2023, the Group disposed of its entire R2028F 12 4298 » NEEBE R KB F
interests in Prime Intelligence Marketing Agency Limited fit & 2 &9 2 F]Prime Inteligence Marketing
(formerly known as Prime Intelligence Solution UK Limited) Agency Limited (B Prime Inteligence Solution
(“Prime UK”), a company incorporated in the United UK Limited * [ Prime UK ) /)& S E 718
Kingdom, to an independent third party. The total VE=F o WEFIERNREA100,00087T
consideration of the disposal amounted to HK$100,000.
Net liabilities of Prime UK disposed at the date of disposal REEEBE T APime UKEEFEEIT ¢
are as follows:

HK$’000

FHET

Assets and liabilities: EEHREE:
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB REE 1,840
Bank and cash balances RITRIBREH 225
Other receivables H fth pE U R IE 326
Other payables H e 308 (4,617)
Net liabilities disposed of EHAETE (2,226)
Gain on disposal HE R
Cash consideration receivables FEYIR &R B 100
Release of foreign currency translation reserve RS INEE 0 E 40
Net liabilities disposed of EHAaEFE 2,226
Gain on disposal &R 2,366
Net cash outflow arising from disposal HEELRSRHFE
Bank and cash balances disposed of EHRTRRSER (225)

164
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36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table set forth below is the detail changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows are, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement

of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

36. GERERBRMEE ()
(b) BMEFHRELEBEZHER

TR AKEREZIMELREZH
MED BRASLIFRSEDH - BER
PHELAZABNRESREGNIARRE
ERBHENAEBEGARERERIER
RERDMSRERBZAE -

HZE202453A31BILEE

New

1 April lease Interest Exchange 31 March

2023  arrangement Cash flows charges realignment 2024

2023% 2024 %

4A1R FHERH BEeRE FSER ERAE 3A31H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TARL TR TR TAR TR TARL

Lease liabilties (note 26)  HE & (M7 26) 4,052 4,156 (3,465) 222 (10) 4,955

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE2023F3H31HILLFE

New

1 April lease Interest Exchange 31 March

2022 arrangement Cash flows charges realignment 2023

2022F 2023F

4A1R MEERH Reng MEER EHRE 3A81H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TETL TAT TEL TETL TAT TETL

Lease liabilliies (note 26)  #8E & & (f:126) 1,390 4,601 (2018) 119 (40) 4,052

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statements for lease

() HERESRHEZE
BRERSRERANBEESEEBENT

comprise the following: B
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within operating cash flows KERESREN 1,312 1,919
Within financing cash flows BMERSREN 3,243 1,899
4,555 3,818
165
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36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. #aBE&RBRME(E)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (Continued) (c) HEBRSHRHEZE(E
These amounts relate to the following: B TIHEEESE -
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR T FAET
Lease rental paid in respect of TREHELANES
finance leases 3,465 2,018
Lease rental paid in respect of REBHEHELNMES
short-term lease 1,090 1,800
4,555 3,818
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. BAREIE
As of 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any capital B ZE2024F [ 2023F 3 531 H - A& @ IF AT
commitments. fA] & AR o
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. FAEE
The Group did not have any contingent liabilities at the end of the RNEFBNREE R BEMKRE E (20234 -
reporting period (2023: Nil). L) o
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 39. MEHREIER
On 14 June 2024, the Group entered into a strategic cooperation M2024F6 A14H - REEESMN/PNPESUEIR
framework agreement (the “Strategic Cooperation Framework PEEERERARAR ([EM/NEEE (L ) FT 28
Agreement”) with Guizhou Little Butterfly Cultural Tourism Industry BEEVEIER % ([ B ESEERGZE]) - 22 A
Development Co. Ltd.* (F M/ b iR EEER B R QF) B—RIBEREARIME([HRE])EEKLZ
(“Guizhou Little Butterfly Cultural”), a company established NA FELLEREEEXILEREEE -
under the laws of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) which BRI B RS & 1EIE 2R Hpes - NS B EL & N /)N A 4 S
mainly operates the business of entrusted operation and (L2 BETRTAE  SESEBEETRR
management of tourist attractions. Pursuant to the Strategic RERRABERFEIRMNBERE  RALEETHY
Cooperation Framework Agreement, the Group and Guizhou Little BEAKHEMAIITTHER  BHWMBEELS - IS
Butterfly Cultural will cooperate on various matters including but not EER AR A —F - itz EEHNEAAT
limited to joint development of intellectual property rights in digital HEAA2024F 6 A14 B2 A1 ©
cultural tourism and exploration of potential opportunities through
the operation of e-commerce platforms or other feasible
approaches. The Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement
shall be effective for a term of one year. Details of the above are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 14 June 2024.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEEBIRS

Save for those transactions or balances of related parties disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
the following material transactions with its related parties during the
year.

BEAMBaREOESFRENZSTEB IS

Saksoh - AEEREREEMB A TIIEA
%5 -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 40. BEBAIRS (E)
(@) Transactions with related parties (@) EEREABE A MIRRB
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mtat TFH T FAT

Sales of goods to related companies: [IZ5 A 71 8H &S E M ¢

— Long Yield Company Limited —BRBERAR ([ER])
(“Long Yield”) (), (i) 32 83
Services rendered to related ) B RN AR AR ¢
companies:
— Long Yield — i @), (i) 124 57
— SoHo Business Center Limited — SoHo Business Center
(“SoHo") Limited ([SoHo |) (i), (i) - 32
124 89
Rental expenses paid to a EN—HEBARMNEeRX
related company
— Birilliant Capital Resources Limited — SEEAAGR AR ([EE])
(“Brilliant”) (), (v) 1,775 1,800
Notes: Bfet -
0] The pricing of the related party transactions are mutually 0] B AR5 2 EERAEE KB AR K
agreed by the Group and related companies. FE °
(ii) Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen are directors of Long (ii) B R+ RIERNES -
Yield.
(i)~ Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen are able to exercise (iii Brie R + % SoHo AEBATE ) -
significant influence over SoHo.
(v)  Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen are able to exercise (iv) B e 4 I o2 - RE S il e L o
control over Brilliant.
(b) Key Management Compensation (b) EEEEEFHH
Key management mainly represents the Company’s FEEREFTEZERARAES - HENH
directors. Their remunerations have been disclosed in note BNE A4 A& BTSRRI 5E 13(a) M EE ©
13(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
41. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4. HEMBERRK
The consolidated financial statements were approved and SGAEVEMRON2024F6 A28 BEEF b
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024. MR HETI) B -
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EFHBERE

Year ended/As at 31 March
HZ3A3MALEE MW3A31H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 2023 F 2022 F 2021 F 2020 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FExT FHET FHT FHET FHET
OPERATING RESULT REEE
Revenue Wz 54,372 43,151 48,952 45,987 50,842
Cost of sales and services rendered 4% & B 12 1 ARk 2% (29,178) (30,143) (32,284) (26,201) (26,264)
Gross profit EF 25,194 13,008 16,668 19,786 24,578
Other income HAa A 3,008 1,497 122 2,466 891
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SRR (10,100) (9,639) (7,158) (4,840) (5,141)
Administrative and other expenses 17 & B A5 2 (33,386) (28,675) (26,197) (23,817) (22,933)
Impairment losses on trade 2 5 EYGRIEREEE
receivables (138) (96) (65) (215) (162)
Loss from operation sEEa (15,422) (23,905) (22,935) (6,620) (2,767)
Finance costs B (234) (119) (107) (176) (209)
Loss before tax BBAEE (15,656) (24,024) (23,041) (6,796) (2,976)
Income tax expense PSR 29 (132) (146) (309) (402)
Loss for the year FREE (15,627) (24,156) (23,187) (7,101) (3,378)
Other comprehensive BB EEMEEmKE
income after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified TEENHEEERZ
to profit or loss: HA -
Remeasurement gains on defined R EEFRA S22
benefit pension plans Eb i A 121 - _ _ _
Items that may be reclassified to A[EEEF P HEBm >
profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences on BEBINETBR 2
translating foreign operations fE =5 (345) (406) 141 538 (418)
Release of foreign currency HENB AR ER
translation reserve on disposal HNEE S B R
of a subsidiary 40 - - - -
(305) (406) 141 538 (418)
Other comprehensive income  FRHEM2EUE
for the year, net of tax HNERFLE (184) (406) 141 538 (418)
Total comprehensive income KARBEEAELFER
for the year attributable to 2HEREATE
the owners of the Company (15,811) (24,562) (23,046) (6,563) (3,796)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERBE
Total assets BEE 45,190 55,029 73,018 97,096 102,518
Total liabilities BaE (26,405) (20,4833) (13,860) (14,892) (13,751)
Net assets EEFE 18,785 34,596 59,158 82,204 88,767
Equity attributable to owners RATHEE NEEER
of the Company 18,785 34,596 59,158 82,204 88,767
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